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EXxpert
retall
brands

Both the HMV and Waterstone's brands

are synonymous with their respective product
categories combining a rich herttage with
contemporary appeal. They are market
leading retailers offering range authority,
product knowled?e and expertise, customer
service and stimulating store environments.



Recorded music Video

Worth US$32 bilion in 2002 The UK video market was worth £2.0 bilion
The Global music market was particulady 10 2002

chalenging in 2002, with some impact Growth is being driven by DVD - which now
from unauthorised CD burning and accounts for 64% of the video market,
internet distribution. However, the UK up from 7% in 1989, With DVD players
market proved more resiient, achieving in less than one third of UK households,
2% sales volume growth (Official there is stil great potential for growth
Chart Company)
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Computer games

The UK games market was worth

£1.1 bilion in 2002

With UK sales of games consoles up 44%
in 2002 to 3.3 milion units, a strong base

has developed to support continued
games software growth

Books

The UK consumer book market
was worth some £2.0 bilion in 2002

The consumer book market has a
record of modest but steady growth
rates. in addition, Waterstone's has
39 university campus stores

internet

Trading websites complement our
store offering

HMV.co,jp is a leading music and DVD
e-taller in Japan and HMV has strong
on-ine posiions in the UK and Australia.
HMV.com (Canada) and waterstones.co.uk
are run through strategic afiances

with Amazon
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A combination of unrivalled product
knowledge, enthusiasm and a passion for
what they do means our employees are the
key to the success of all of our businesses.






Lynn Wilson

Lynnis Assistant Manager of Waterstone's
Manchester Airport store, and is
Waterstone's Bookseller of the Year.
The award reflected the energy and
enthusiasm she brought to her role,
mostimportantly when helping and
serving customers. Lynn recommends
‘Quentin's’ by Maeve Binchy and

‘Pillars of the Earth’ by Ken Follett.

Harry Mardirosian

Harry is DVD Visual New Release
Buyer in HMV Canada, responsible for
coordinating purchasing and marketing
suppaort for this rapidly growing area of
the business. A key achievement was
helping to deliver the most successful
Christmas ever for visual sales. Harry
recormmends the Quentin Tarantino
BVD Special Editions for fans of modern
day gangster fims.

John Mitchel and Sarah Nicholls

Sarah and John are music buyers for the
HMV stores at, respectively, Oxford Circus
ard Selfridges, London. Both use their wide
product expestise to improve range and
merchandising opportunities of specialist
categaries, such as import music, John
graciously deferred to Sarah's choice of
CD album of the year - 'Magnolia Electric
Company' by Sengs: Ohia, which is described
as "a beautifui alt-country album”.

Twin Peaks - Series 1', as "one of the
finest TV series available on the format”,

is Sarah's DVD recommendation.



Mark Bowles

Mark joined HMV in 1993, and is now
Head of Property for both HMV UK and
Waterstone's. He negotiated the property
deals which led to our 21 new store
openings last year — as part of HMV UK's
new store roll-out programme. When he's
on the road looking at new store sites Mark
likes to fsten to Queens of the Stone Age’s
'Songs for the Deaf’, and on DVD his pick
of the year is Led Zeppelin Live.

Etsuko Nasu

Etsuke became Regional Manager
responsible for five of the main Tokyo
stores in HMV Japan in Apri 2003 after

a wide variety of store management roles.
Last year, as manager of our Shinjuku South
store, Etsuko’s team achieved significant
operational improvements, including a 70%
reductiont in stock shrinkage. Her favourite
DVD is 'Apocalypse Now Redux’.

Nipper

The Group's most famous trademark,
Nipper was immertalised in Francis
Barraud's painting of 1898. Nipper first
appeared on an HMV recard label in
1907 and is sl making regular store
appearances today.

Tim Watson

Tim has been with Waterstone's for

14 years and is the Manager of the
Superstores South region and the
Waterstone's Regional Manager of the
Year. With his extensive experience and
knowledge of booksefing, Tm knows
maore than most about what makes

a great bookshop. Tim recommends
‘Fingersmith’ by Sarah Waters.




Branching
out

The HMV UK new store opening programme
continues to be a great success. The 21 new
stores opened during the year strengthened
the track record, with an average cash
payback of just 13 months compared to

16 months tor the openings over the prior
four years. In the new financial year we
expect to open at least another 15 stores,
with plans over the medium term to increase
the total store estate from the current level
of 158 to around 300.



Waterstone's has made excellent
progress on its strategy to apply the HMV
plueprint. This includes the introduction

of a more commiercial focus via expanded
promotional activity and sharper front of
store merchandising, optimising the store
estate and investing in the retailing skils of
our people. This is being achieved without
undermining the core Waterstone's values
of range, service and book knowledge.
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- 1998~ 1989 - 2000 - P 2001

0.2m 41m 16.6m - 377m

- UK DVD sales volume UK DVD sales volume UK DVD salkes volume ¢ UK DVD sales volume

Get set, grow!




DVD is a key driver of growth in all HMV
territories. As both hardware penetration
increases and the range of software titles
continues to fil out, HMV expects to further
benefit from DVD growth.

;2002

 79.6m

UK DVD sales volurme

e



The structure of the Japanese market makes
it a very attractive place in which to invest.

A fragmented music retail market means that
HMV, operating through just 38 stores, has
an audio market share close to that of the
market leader. During the year, HMV opened
four new stores providing excellent returns,
and in the new financial year plans to
accelerate its opening programme.

RISING IN







Throughout HMV and Waterstone's, a strict
focus on the capital tied up in the business

is embedded in the way that we work.

Our investment in state of the art and
bespoke inventory management information
systems, combined with the expert product
knowledge of our field and store employees,
leads to superior returns without compromising
the core HMV and Waterstone's brand values
of product range and expertise.

Stock
N

trade
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Chairman’s statement
Eric Nicoli

Business achieverments 2002/03

HMV UK

21 new stores opened, including 150th
“milestone” store at Truro

HMV.co.uik launches online digital music
downloads in partnership with OD2,

Music Week Retailer of the Year award
for the fifth successive year.

Waterstone's

Refurbishment of nine stores,
representing 10% of sales.

£10 milion stock renewal programme
successiully completed.

Growth in DVD

Video category, helped by DVD, delivers
41% of UK sales, Christmas 2002,

British Video Association Retail Success
of the year 2002 - specilst retal category.

Strong maiden interim resufts

Group operating profits increased
32.8% to £17.3 milion. Maiden Interim
dividend of 1.1p per share

Record Christmas trading

8.5% Group sales growth, including
4.6% LFL growth. 5.6% LFL growthin
both Waterstone's and HMV Europe.

North America

Increased Canadian market share
to 24.4%.

Canadian Music Industry Awards
Retail Chain of the Year 2002 for the
15th successive year.

Asia Pacific

Four new store openings in Japan.

Market share growth in Japan: Music
0.3% to 6.9%, DVD 1.2% to 5.1%.

HMV Group plc
www.hmvgroup.com

A year of achiev
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Our first year as a listed company on

the London Stock Exchange has seen
HMV Group make appreciable progress,
both in meeting the strategic objectives
for growth laid out at the Initiat Public
Offering and delivering an excelent

set of financial resuits. The Group
financial performance was strong

during the period. Sales were up 3.2% to
£1,707.7 milion, operating profit increased
by 12.1% to £118.4 million and our net
debt was reduced by £241.8 milion
(£95.0 mifion on a pro forma basis).

Al HMV and Waterstone's people are
to be congratulated for this excellent
business performance, which was

set against the backcloth of an ever
more competitive retail environment,

a decine in the worldwide music market
and macro-economic conditions
which, as the year unfolded, weakened
consumer confidence.

We have much more to do,
however, before the full potentiat of the
Group is realised. At the IPO we stated
as two main pricrities for strategic growth
the execution of a new store opening
programme for HMV in the UK and the
turnaround of the Waterstone's business,
a programime which wil continue over
several years. | am pleased to report
excellent progress on both of these fronts.

At HMV, 21 new UK stores were
opened, taking the total number at
the year end to 158. The cutstanding
performance of the new stores, and the
extraordinary growth of our DVD sales,
means that the Group can look forward
with confidence to highly consistent and
rapid returns from the further expansion
of HMV UK during the new financial year.

At Waterstone's, the refurbishment
of nine of our largest stores was completed

to schedule in readiness for the crucial
acadernic and Christmas selling periods,

whilst application of the best-in-class retai

standards establshed in HMV helped our
books chain to improve financial ratios in
a market which was ostensibly flat.

Our HMV businesses in North America
and Asia Pacific have responded
resolutely to the weakness seen in their
regional music markets. These businesses
have in several areas sirongly outperformed
their local market and leveraged their
competitive positions to advance supply
chain relationships and increase market
share of DVD. This gives us confidence
for our prospects for growth in our
chosen international markets.

The Group possesses outstanding
operational capabiities and has a capital
structure apposite for realising the
considerable potential for further
expansion. Sales and profit growth
femain our strong focus as we aim to
maximise on behalf of our shareholders
the opportunities 1o progress further.

Our balance sheet, which shows strong
free cash flow generation and net debt
faling ahead of expectations, gives the
Board confidence to reinforce the
progressive dividend policy laid out

at the IPC.

W*

Eric Nicol Chairman
30 June 2003

ement
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Chief Executive’s statement

Alan Giles

Fast
forward

2002/03 was another year of excellent
progress for HMV Group. The Group
delivered excellent profit growth and
achieved a £95 mifion reduction in net
borrowings, This was achieved in a year
when the UK, our largest rmarket by sales
and profit, experienced a softening in
music sales and a general downturn

in consumer confidence, which was
exacerbated in the final quarter by the
build-up to and eventuat war in Iraq.

At the time of our IPO in May 2002 the
Group identified several objectives that
would enable us 1o pursue our ambition
to be the most successful international
retailer of music, books and video. | am
pleased to report that, by successfully
following a very focused strategy for
ongoing growth, we continue to defiver
against these objectives and advance
nearer to our ambiton.

The seven key points of our strategy
as outlined in last year's annual report:

01 Apply the HMV blueprint across
the Group

To transfer best practice from the highly
successiul business model developed by
HMV in the UK,

02 ure leadershi
To operate in attractive markets where the

Group can maintain or obtain market leadership.

03 Deliver unrivated authority
To deliver leading market share through

superior range, customer service and product
knowledge in each catchment area.

04 53] rior financial
performance

To generate superior financial performance by
achieving "bestin class” operational standards.

05 Explait new product opportunities
To build on the Group's strong track record

of the early adoption of new formats, such as
DVD, thereby securing competitive advantage
and market share growth,

06 Embrace alternative distribution
hannels an hnologi

To ensure that the Group is well positioned to

take advantage of viable alternative distribution

channels and technologies that present viable

strategic opportunities for its busingss.

07 Optimi I rfclio

Ta ensure that the Group has a suitatly
postioned, sized and configured store portfolio
tafored to kocal markets designed to maximise
long-term returns.

in chosen markets
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Growth strategy

HMV UK store openings

HMV Europe, operating through 166
stores primayily in the UK, has yet again
proved itself to be the high-performing
engine of the Group, delivering record
sales, profit and cash flow. Total sales
grew to £867.4 milion - a 10.6% increase
on the previous year, inclusive of a 3.7%
like for ike improvement.

Whilst highly successful, HMV's
national coverage is under-represented
compared to its retaiing peers and
there exist outstanding opportunities to
increase owr store numbers. HMV stores
are sited in each of the top 50 UK markets
ranked by Experian, but are not in over
50% of the next 150 markets. In these
towns HMV has high brand awareness
and a valuable consumer franchise but
nao distribution to, effectively, some 20%
of UK shoppers. This group of catchments
has become the focus of our expansion,
and during the year we opened a
record 21 new stores, including Carlisle,
Colchester, Grimsby, Putney, Winchester
and Truro, where our landmark 150th
store opened in December.

We also added to our edge-of-
town portfolio, with new store openings
at Edinburgh’s Fort Kinnaird and
Ocean Terminal, Manchester West One
and Liverpool Speke Park. For the first
time, HMV now has a presence on
raitway concourses folowing the opening
of new stores at London's Victoria and
Manchester's Piccadily stations.

As a focus for capital investment,
shareholders can be assured of both the
scale and consistency of returns from these
new openings, with the 50 new stores
opened in the past five years generating
an average cash payback of just 16 months.
We are highly selective in where we invest
and, because of the strength of the HMV
brand we are able to secure advantageous
property terms which lead to these superior
returns. This gives us great confidence
that the 15 new stores planned for the
new financial year will also be significanty
value enhancing to the Group.

DVD market leadership

In HMV Europe, total DVD sales grew by
83% year on year, althcugh with some
cannibalisation of VHS, total video sales
increased 32.4% for the full year. In the
UK we have established a leading, 25.8%
share of the DVD market, an cutstanding
feat given that HMV was not the market
leader in VHS,

The explosive growth in DVD in
the UK, HMV's largest market, has been
achieved from a stil emerging but rapidly
growing base of approximately 30%
household penetration for DVD players,
Overal in 2002/03, the UK installed base
for DVD hardware grew by 87%, according
to the British Video Association, and the
market is st rmatching the development
of the US, but some 16 months fater.

VHS was predominantly a new
release driven format and back catalogue
sales and collecting had not developed to
the same extent as music. The superior
quality of DVD and the additional content
which suppliers now feature has, however,
led to the development of a strong
catalogue business.

The proven consumer appetite
for DVD software plays directly to
HMV's strengths as a range autharity
retailer and its expertise in continuousty
stimulating consumer interest in
catalogue titles through pre-planned
sales campaigns. With only 11,000
titles avalable on DVD so far, compared
to 23,000 for VHS, there exists ample
scope through continuing range
expansion to support consurners’
desire to collect DvD.

The chalenge for HMV in DVD
is to make consumers aware of the
huge breadth of new product releasing
to DVD. and to this end HMV continues
1o develop new inttiatives. During the year
HMV launched the ScreenXtra preview
DVD, which is a very effective toal for
raiging awareness of release dates and
HMV offers ta our core DVD custemers.
HMV alse introduced into stores the
New to DVD sections, which highlight
non-chart catalogue re-issues and
this too s driving strong market shares
for HMV.

Why have muysi I ining?
A combination of llega! internet downioading
and CD burning have taken scme of the edge
off of growth in global music sales, but does
not sufficiently explain why some music markets
continued to see positive growth. France has
all the ingredients for music downloading -~
mature PC penetration and a rapidly growing
broadband Internet market - but saw growth

n its music market of 4% in 2002. In cur view,
this divergence is largely a function of how
successiul the local record labels and retailers
have been in developing and promoting the
market. We also belleve that the high growth DVD
preduct format is competing with music for a
share of consumer expenditure, and is evidence
that consumers’ desire to own and cofiect
product in physical format is undiminished,

ls DVD growth sustainable?

DVD has enjoyed phenomenal growth in the
presvious two years. We beleve there is much
maore 10 come, stimulated by increasing
household penetration of hardware, including
recordable DVD, and an expansion in the
number of software tites. Athough we do not
expect a repeat of the UK's 100%+ growth,
DVD wit lead our video category to high
double-digit growttt this year. Looking forward,
we expect HMV's abiity to maximise catalogue
sales through promoticns to help us maintain
market feadership even when the growth in
hardware begins to plateau.
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Can HMV compete with supermarkets
for m n ks?

The supermarkets have been aggressively
pursuing their expansion of non-food ranges
in recent years, and are an established feature
of the competitive environment. Although
supermarket competiion has brought some
deflationary pressures and they have gained
market share, their potential to replicate the
range, service and environment found in KMV
or Waterstone's is constrained by space and
their focus on family-oriented, best-seling
tiles. Our stores typicafly have a lower share
of these types of products than titles deeper
into the range.

Are improvemen Waterstone'
ing m he expense of its
iterary raditions?

The Group is proud of Waterstone's reputation
for fiterary authority, which owes everything to
the passion and dedication of its booksellers.
Itis true that the books market became more
competitive sihce price controls were abandoned
in 1995, The aim of our Waterstone's recovery
programme is to improve the chain’s retaiing
capabiiies so that it is better equipped to
meet the requirements of today's vastly more
commercial books market. Our focus is on
strengthening Waterstone's core brand vaiue
as the most authoritative range bookseker

and on applying HMV's world-class retaling
standards to Waterstone’s.

Chief Executive's statement continued

The growth in DVD meant that video
contributed over 40% of sates in HMV
UK at Christmas, compared to 45% for
music. Our businesses in North Armerica
and Asia Pacific, where HMV had not
been as successful with VHS, are aiso
making significant progress in introducing
BVD to their product mix.

Expansion in Japan

Progress is also being made on our
medium-term strategic growth plans for
Japan, where we ended the year with
37 stores located in many of the key
catchments. Japan did not escape the
downturn seen in other world music
markets during the period, declining

by 9%. However, it remains the world's
second largest market far music, with
a strong indigenous J-Pop business,
which represents three quarters of the
market, and widespread interest in
international artists.

Our estimated 7% market share in
Japan's highly fragmented market means
there is an opportunity for us to become
the leading player through expanding our
store portfolio. Our share of the market
belies the strength of the HMV brand,
which is one of the best known in Japan.
Approximately 10% of our Japanese sales
are now made onling, reflecting our high
brand awareness and the success of
our e-commerce operation, but also
the relative under-representation of
our stores.

The HMV business in Japan is
currently sub-scale, and the infrastructure
we have in place is capable of supporting
a cansiderably larger chain. Qur 2002/03
new stores, at Qita, Machida, Hakata
and Sapporo, have all performed well,
Our expansion plan has targeted eight
naw store openings during the new
financial year, a programme prudently
aligned to the development of store
managers required to meet HMV's
high operationai standards.

Lease lengths in Japan are typicaly
shorter than in other major HMV temitories,
which means a low-risk investrment
profile for new store openings. The Group
remains confident of achieving rapid
returns as scale economies unfold and
as we mare deeply engrain into the
HMV business in Japan the worid class
operating standards evident in HMVY UK.

Waterstone's trnaround

Good progress was made during the first
12 months of our three-year recovery
programme for Waterstone's. During the
period Waterstone's tackied head-on
some of the biggest challenges that

had been set for the turnaround of the
business, including the replacement

of £10 milion of slow-moving stock with
fresher and more saleable titles, and the
refurbishment of nine of our larger stores
reprasenting approximately 10% of
Waterstone's turnover.

Most of this activity was carried
out in the first half, prior to the peak
academic and Christrnas trading periods.
The beneft was seen in Waterstone's ke
for ike sales performance at Christmas,
which was up 5.6% against a strong
performance in the prior year. This in
part reflected the successful application
of promotional tactics similar to those
developed in HMV UK. These included
the launch, in close co-ordination with
supplers, of a highly marketabie "Book
of the Week" campaign for each of the
six weeks prior to Christmas.

The refurbished Waterstone's
stores provide a contempaorary and
commercial environment. A new
children’s concept was introduced and
further coffee cancessions were opened.
All of these improvernents have been
rmade without camprorising on the
urrivalled range authority for which
Waterstone’s is renowned.

Looking forward, Waterstone's
continues 1o rigorously apply the HMV
Blueprint, This process has provided
appreciable results that have been
translated to sales and profit growth and
balance sheet improvement, atthough
not all ideas have translated successfully.
As Waterstone's gradually improves
profitabiity and restores operating
margins to more acceptable levels
the Group remains determined that
its shareholders wil benefit from the
incremantal value created.

New channels and formats

With a longer term horizon in mind, the
Group continues to experiment with new
technologies and distribution formats

in the event that these should become
viable and widespread channels to deliver
the products we seff to consumers.
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The recent deckine in the world music
market has been widely atributed to CD
burning and the ilegal free sharing of
music between users of peer-to-peer
Internet sites. Currently, consumer
research exists to support the seemingly
opposite views that music downloading
is to some degree both stimulating and
substituting sales of physical product.
Precise trends at this stage are difficult to
decipher, but it is clear that downlcading
is emerging as a part of the distribution
landscape. Whether this will move
beyond piracy to a viable commercial
miodel remains to be seen, however.

So that the Group can better
understand the dynamics of legitimately
seling music for download via the
Internet, HMV Europe entered into a
strategic partnership with the UK oniine
music service provider OD2. This allows
subscribers to the secure service to
stream, download or permanently burn
tracks to CD for a monthly fee of £4.99.
As might be expected, given the free
avaiability of prated music from peer-to-
peer Internet websites, sales from this
channel so far have been modest,
However, it has given us considerable
insight to consumer preferences and
behaviour and postions the Group 1o
take advantage of downloading as and
when it evolves intc a legitimate and
viable channel to market.

As a channel to market, the
Internet has settled down so that sales
of physical product online as a share of
the overal market are 5%-6% for books
and music. We continue to make
improvements to our onfine offer to drive
sales and profitability. During the pericd,
we eliminated the losses from running the
HMV.com website in Canada by entering
into a strateqic aliance with amazon.ca
whilst preserving our branding, and each
of the Group’s five transactional websites
now trades profitably,

In July HMV UK wil ink with leading
mobile phone operator Vodafone Live
1o offer a range of CDs, DVDs and games
to mobile Internet customers. The offer
has potential for purchases of physical
product and downloads being charged
directly to a customer's telephone bil and
closely resembles the HMV mobile Internet
cffer, which represented 18% of total
cnline sales in Japan.

In HMV's store at 360 Oxford Street,
London, new flat-screen listening posts
are being introduced, enabling customers
to access and play clips from 250,000
music, DVD and games titles either via

an online search or by scanning the
barcode of specific titles, The kiosks are
scheduled to be rolled out to all HMV UK
stores aver the next three years.

We are determined that we can
maintain ouwr proven track record in providing
appropriate levels of support to the right
distribution technologies and formats
as and when they arrive, and continue
Lo invest in innovative experiments as
a way of assessing the strategic viabiity
of new channels and technologies for
our businesses.

Outlook

As we continue the execution of our
growth strategy, the Group is able to
look forward with confidence to the
year ahead.

HMV UK is producing consistently
world-class retaiing standards and strong
financial ratios, and as we anticipate
our store expansion programme for the
UK and the continuing growth in DVD
we remain confident that this business
can buld on its outstanding levels
of performance.

HMV UK'’s proven retailing skills
are the benchmark for our international
businesses in Asia Pacific and North
Arnerica, As we continue to apply these
technigues, build out our DVD business
and, in Japan, pursue the opportunity
to expand our store portfolio, we are
confident of realising the potential
that our market positions in these
territaries provide:.

in Waterstone's, further operational
improvements wil be made as we continue
with the three-year turnaround plan.

We take great encouragement from

the learning and progress that has so far
been achieved and, through the application
of the HMV model and a disciplined focus
©on managing the capital tied up in the
business, we remain determined to
restore Waterstone's 1o a more profitable
leved of return for our shareholders.

Alan Giles Chief Executive Officer
30 June 2003
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Operating review

HMV Group achieved another record
year of sales performance and profit
generation, with HMV Europe cnce again
proving itself to be the powerhouse of the
Group. Overal sales increased by 3.2%,
with like for ke sales growth of 1.6%,
including 1.8% growth in HMV and 0.9%
ke for ike growth in Waterstone’s. The
Group improved operating profit by 12.1%
to £118.4 milion, and operating margin

for the year increased to 6.9% from 6.4%.

Continued strong cash generation,

driven by increased profitability and further
improvements in working capital, offset
by increased capital investment, delivered
operating cash inflow of £134.3 milion,
compared with £159.0 milion in the prior
year. As a result, the Group continues

to make rapid progress on reducing its
borrowings, with year end net debt of
£158.6 milion, down from £253.6 miion
on a pro forma basis i the prior year.

A reorganisation of senior
management followed David Pryde's
resignation as Managing Director of HMV
Europe. Steve Knott was appointed
Managing Director of HMV Europe and
his deep experience and knowledge of
the business, gained through seven years
spent as Operations Director of HMV UK,
ensured a high level of continuity. Steve's
move from his position as Managing
Director at Waterstone's created a
vacancy which Brian McLaughin returned
to occupy, in addition to his role as the
Group's Chief Operating Officer, until a
new Managing Director is appointed.

Following the year end, Paul
Dezelsky, President of HMV Asia Pacific,
assumed responsibility for Australia
in addition to Japan, Hong Kong
and Singapore.

At the end of July, Chris Walker,
President of HMV North America retires
following 14 years with HMY, and the
Group extends its gratitude and best
wishes to Chris for his retirement,
Humphrey Kadaner joins HMV North
America as President from Sony. where
he managed Sony's store retail business
in Canada and the US.

Below (left to right):

Steve Knott

Managing Director, HMV Europe
Paul Dezelsky

President, HMV Asia Pacific

Chris Walker
President, HMV North America

Above:

Brian McLaughin

Chief Operating Officer and acting
Managing Director, Waterstone's
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Sales
Year on Constant Like for ke
year exchange sales
2003 2002 growth’ growth?® growth’
£m £m % % %

HMV
Europe 867.4 784.4 10.6 10.3 3.7
Asia Pacific 277.0 275.7 0.5 4.8 0.0
North America 1571 1871 (18.1) (9.9) (4.0)
Total HMV 1,301.5 1.247.2 4.4 6.1 1.9
Waterstone's 406.2 407.3 (0.3) (0.5) 09
Total Group 1,707.7 1.654.5 3.2 4.4 16

Operating profit

Year on Constant
2003 2002 year exchange
2003 2002 % of % of growth growth?
£m £m sales sales % %

HWV
Europe B8.6 74.0 10.2 9.4 19.7 19.3
Asia Pacific 9.3 8.4 34 3.0 12.1 18.5
North America (3.5} 1.0 2.2) 05 - -
Total HMV 944 834 7.3 6.7 13.2 13.2
Waterstone's 24.0 22.2 59 55 7.8 7.2
Total Group 118.4 1056 6.9 6.4 121 12.0

1 Year on year growth over the Coresponsing period last year s based on resuls iransiated at the actual exchango rates bong the weightod sverage oxchange rates for the 52 wecks onced

26 Aprl 2002 ana 52 wecks endod 27 Apd 2002 respoctvely.

wmn

-
Constant exchange: growth aver the corasponding porod Iast year is based on the welghted average excharge rates for the 52 weeks ended 27 Aprl 2002.
HMVY Group's Ike: for ike sales performance measures stores that were apan at the beginning of the previous financial year {Le. open at the beginming of May 2001} and that have rot beoen expanded,

chased of rosted during that ime. Lke for ke sales growth s calcuiated ol constant exchange rates, Stores roszerd (Up o down) are excluccd from ike for ke solcs performance. Sales are only over

the et amaunt receved.
4 Operaling profit is shown before operateg oxcoptional tems,
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Operating review continued

HMV Europe

HMV Euwrope
The HMV Europe business, which
operates through 166 stores, primarily
in the UK, enjoyed another outstanding
year of sales performance and profit
growth. Turnover for the year grew
to £867.4 milion, a 10.6% increase on
the prior year and a 3.7% like for like
improvement, contributing to a 19.7% rise
in operating profit to £88.6 milion, with
operating margin up to 10.2% from 9.4%.
A highlight of the year was the
performance of the record 21 new store
openings and two resites, which added
92,000 square feet of trading space to
the HMV business in the UK. The new
stores outperformed by some distance
their sales and profit targets. As the
cornerstone of HMV's strategic growth
their performance enables the Group
10 look forward with confidence to the
continuing store roll out programme for
the new financial year, when a further
15 new stores are expected to open.
The overall sales performance

refiects another year of exceptional growth

for DVD and its increasing importance o
the HMV business. Music now accounts
for 51% of sales, down from 56% in
2001/02, with outstanding DVD growth of
83%, driving total video to 36% of sales,
up from 31%.

According to the Official Chart
Company ("OCC"}, in 2002/03 the
volume of UK music sales grew by 2%.
Despite an increasingly competitive
market, HMV UK retained its position as
market leader holding market share at
25.1% (OCC volume). The support HMV
gives to new artists played a key role in
maintaining our share, with the range of
promotional Playlist CDs extended and
additional store space devoted to New
Music. Reflecting the strength of HMV's
propaosition for its customers, for a fifth
successive year HMV was named as
the Best Retail Chain in the Music
Week Awards.

“In my 14 years with HWV
I've had a number of store
management roles before
joining Head Office as a
buyer in 1998. A key
achievement this year
was my team'’s contribution
to the record resufts
achieved in the crucial
Christmas trading period.
On recommendations,

I'l choose Paul Weller's
best solo album to

date, llurnination”.”

Rob Campkin HMV UK
Head of Rock and
Pop/Dance and Urban

"Since joining HMV in 1994,

I have managed storesin
Chester, Hanley and Lancaster.
| currently manage the
Trafford Centre store, and
was deighted for our success
to be recognised with the
Store Manager of the Year
award. My favourite CD of
the year is 'The beginning
stages of...' by Polyphonic
Spree because they are the
rmost upifting, motivating,
feelgood band ever!”
Yvonne Drake HMV UK

Manager of the Year,
Trafford Centre, Manchester
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In VD, HMV UK increased its share to
25.8% (OCC volume) and remains
market ieader in this rapidly developing
market. This owed much to our ability to
drive sales of catalogue titles through
compeling campaigns and prormotional
offers. HMV also faunched the ScreenXira
preview DVD as a tool for raising
awareness of release dates and HMV
offers to core customers. This retai first
was a huge step forward in customer
communication and has proved to be a
powerful vehicle for keeping HMV ahead
of its competitors by demonstrating
authority in DVD.

HMV Europe’s games business
achieved sales growth of 14%, driven
primarily by console sales, with software
share impacted by the increased
bundiing of titkes with hardware sold
by competitors.

World-class retailing standards
in HMV continued to faciitate the
conversion of strong sales performance
into profit growth, with operating margin
improving to a record 10.2% from 9.4%.
This in part reflected a 40 basis point
improvement in product margins,
primarily achieved through ever tighter
control of stock obsolescence and
shrinkage, including the benefit of further
investment in stock security systems.
Operating costs also continued to be
tightly managed throughout the business,

The focus on operational
effectiveness also delivered further
improvements in balance sheet
management. HMV Europe's market-
leading stockturn {8.6 times) ensured
working capital more than funded the
division’s fixed assets by an average of
£45 milion throughout the year.

The HMV e-commerce business

also went from strength to strength,
increasing sales and profitability.

The online channel is of high importance
to the stores as a marketing toal, and
75% of visitors to HMV.co.uk use the
website 1o view the offers available in
store. 90% of HMV website users buy
in HMV stores and so the business has
developed an in-store e-mail customer
recrutment programme which drives
customers back into the stores.

Key to the high operating
standards demonstrated by HMV is
the passion, commitment and specialist
expertise of the people who work within
the business, and during the year HMV
made notable progress to meet targets
on staff development, retention and
recrutment. In addition, HMV retained
the Investor in People Award originally
received in 2000.

HMV completed its withdrawal
frorm Germany, closing two stores during
the year and the final store after the
year end. The stores were originally
established as a pilot, but insufficient
consumer interest in the core HMV brand
values of range authority and specialist
knowledge meant that a roll-out of
stores in Germany could not be justified.
The total cost of closure of £1.0 milion
was expensed within operating profit,

In the first few months of this year,
HMV has continued to identify new store
opportunities for the UK, and nine new
sites have already been secured for
2003/04, including Birmingham Bulring,
Epsom, Stirling and the Whiteley's
shopping centre in London.

HMV Group plc
www.hmvgroup.com

"I have been at HMV's Oxford
Street store since September
1998 where | am a Sales
Assistant. HMV had a terrific
Christmas, and | was pleased
10 sel the store’s largest
amount of games software.
Game of the year for me
was 'Puzzle Fighter' for the
Gameboy Advance SP. | saw
my team leader playing the
game on his Gameboy and
had to buy my own handheld
console just to play 'Puzzle
Fighter'. | haven't been able
to put it down since!”

Dipo George Sales Assistant
HMV Oxford Street
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Operating review continued

HMV International

HMV Asia Pacific

in Asia Pacific, HMV operates through
75 stores, with 37 in Japan, 32 in
Australia and a total six stores in
Hong Kong and Singapore.

Total sales for the region, at
constant exchange rates, increased
by 4.8%, with like for like sales declining
marginally by 0.1%. This reflected strong
growth in Australia, offsetting a small
decline in Japan, with conditions more
difficuit in Hong Kong and Singapore.
Sales in all territories continued 1 be
driven by DVD, which for the region
overal increased by 54% at constant
exchange rates, with total video now
22% of sales, up from 17% in 2001/02.

I a highly fragmented competitive
environment, HMV increased its music
market share in Japan, reflecting strang
campaign and promotional activity based
upon the HMV UK model. HMV also
improved its brand awareness during
the year, supporting the major Japanese
music festivals Fuji Rock and Summer
Sonic, and a programme of in-store events
were staged throughout the chain.

Four new stores opened
successfully during the year in Otta,
Machida, Hakata and Sapporao, all of
which performed well, These reflected
the introduction of a new store design
with a simple modern feel and fresh
graphics. In addition, major and minor
refits were carried out in over half of
the stores to improve presentation,
lighting, and space allocation. The store
development team for Japan was also
strengthened to accelerate new site
opportunities, with a target of eight new
store openings in the new financial year,
most of which have already been secured.

Support for the expansion of the
business in Japan was provided through
new staff training programmes based
on concepts originating in HMV UK.
Strong progress was also made in
developing the skils needed to maximise
the Track management information
system, and during the year the business
made further advances in working capital
management, improving stock turn for
a fifth successive year.

HMVY's e-commerce operation moved
firmly into profi for the first time and
generated over 10% of total sales

in Japan. Sales growth folowed the
improvements made o fulfiment,

site fayout and catalogue, and a mokbile
Internet website contributed to an overall
one milion page hits per day for the
HMV.co jp website.

In Australia, HMV enjoyed an
outstanding year of sales growth,
with an exceptional DVE performance
and significantly improved market share
in music the main drivers. Merchandising
improvements were made to all HMV
stores to enhance presentation and
campetiiveness, and there was also a
very strong focus on stock management
Two new stores were opened at Miranda
and Surfers Paradise.

In Hong Kong and Singapore sold
operational progress was made, notably
through improvements in stock efficiency
and property arrangements. Central
costs were also significantly reduced
at the start of the year in anticipation
of more difficult economic conditions,
which were more acuiely realised than
expected with the outbreak of the
SARS epidemic in the final quarter.

Operating profit for the region was
ahead by £1.0 milion to £9.3 milion, an
18.5% increase at constant exchange
rates, with operating margin improving 1o
3.4% from 3.0%. This reflected the benefit
of e-commerce profits, combined with
resiient product marging, achieved
despite the very competitive environment
and the dilutive effect of lower margin
DV sales. The operating margin also
benefited from a strong focus on the
contral of store and central costs.

HMV Asia Pacific also contributed
further improvements in working capital
management, by improving settlement
terms with key suppliers and improving
stockium 1o 6.4 imes.

“in 1997 | joined HMV
Japan's Tokyo Ginza store
as a stock processor, and
later became rock buyer.

i transferved 10 the
e-commerce team at

the time of launch, and it

has been very exciting to
contribute to this rapicly
growing and pioneering part
of the business. Outside of
work, 1like to follow my
favourite footbal team,
Chelsea FC."

Jiro Baba HMV Japan Internet
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“I've been with HMV Canada
for 13 years, initially in store
roles. As TRACK Operations
Manager | am responsible
for improving the use of
systems in stores o maximise
operational effectiveness
through documentation,
training and implementation
of best practices. My favourite
CD from last year was ‘Up’
by Peter Gabriel and | love
'Six Feet Under - Season
One’ on DVD."

Martine Frobisher
HMV Canada
Track Operations Manager

HMV North America

Primariy locatedt in Canada, where HMV
has market leadership operating through
99 stores, HMV North Armerica encountered
very difficult trading conditions, particularly
in the first half of the year. Overall ke for
ke sales fell 4,.0%, with an 8.8% fal in

the first half, improving to a 0.7% decline
in the last six menths. Total sales for the
region decreased by 9.9% at constant
exchange rates, reflecting the accelerated
programme of store closures in the

US business.

The music market in Canada again
proved difficult, with Soundscan market
volume faling by 17.2% in the year.
Against this backdrop, HMV Canada
consistently grew share, which overal was
up to 24.4% from 23.8%. This resiient
performance reflected the introduction
of more aggressive campaigns and other
promotional activity, funded in part by
the negotiation of improved trading terms
from suppliers.

The success of the DVD format
continued to be the main driver of sales
in the year, with 50% growth contributing
to total video accounting for 27% of
total sales, up from 19% in the prior year.
DVD pricing in the market was particularly
competitive, to which HMV Canada
responded by introducing more aggressive
price points, in part supported by
improved trading terms from suppliers.

n April 2003 HMV Canada's
e-commerce operation was relaunched
as a co-branded site with amazon.ca.
Under this arrangement, amazon.ca will
provide inventory, content and customer
service for HMV.com, but the new site
will continue to offer unique HMV content,
inciuding information about HMV store
locaticns, jobs and in-store events.
Restructuring costs were £0.6 milion and
were expensed within operating profit.

The gradual downsizing of the:
legacy US business continued, and four
stores were cClosed during the year and
one after the year end, leaving a total of
seven stores down from 12 at the prior
year end. The net cost of the accelerated
closure programme of £2.9 milion was
expensed within operating profit.

Inclusive of the above one-off charges,
HMV Narth America recorded a

£3.5 milion operating loss for the period,
down from a £1.0 milion profit in 2001/02.
Adjusting for the closure of the US

stores and the restructuring of HMV.com,
HMV Canada recorded an operating
profit of £2.0 milion, offset by £2.0 milion
of ongoing operating losses in the legacy
US business.

Looking forward, HMV North
America has a very clear focus on
improving performance through better
marketing and campaigns, effective
management of costs and more efficient
and proactive management of stock.
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Operating review continued
Waterstone’'s

"I've been with Waterstone's
for nine years, initally in various
store roles. Maintenance of
the core stock range shapes
the standing and reputation
of Waterstone's as the number
one specialist book retaier.
Hence, my role as Range
Manager is to ensure that our
customers are offered the
widest choice of the most
interesting books available.
My book recommendation
is "The Cheese Monkeys'

by Chip Kidd."

Pete Harvey Waterstone's
Range Manager

Waterstone's
In Waterstone's good progress was
made during the first 12 months of
athree-year recovery programme.
Operating through 193 stores primarity
in the UK, of which 39 are on university
campuses, Waterstone's remains the
leading retailer of books in the UK.

Total sales for the business for
the year were £406.2 milion, a 0.3%
decrease over the prior year, reflecting
some siore closures. Like for like sales
growih in a relatively flat book market was
0.9% for the: full year. Sales performance
during the period was subject to variabilty
as the business implemented crucial
elements of the recovery strategy.
The focus during the summer and
autumn was to improve the range,
by replacing some £10 milion of
slow-moving stock with faster-moving,
more saleable titles, and to refurbish nine
large Waterstone's stores. The highlight
was an outstanding Christmas
performance, when like for ke sales
were up 5.6% against very strong
comparatives (+9.1%) from the prior
year. The Christmas performance was
driven by the continued improverment
in retaiing standards and a wel executed
marketing strategy.
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"l joined Waterstone's in
1997 and have been Branch
Manager since 2000.

At Bluewater our focus is on
depth and quality of range,
combined with excellence
in customer service, which
together are reflected in the
performance of the store.,

It was fantastic that our
success was recognised
with my award of Branch
Manager of the Year”

Elyse Gotdsworthy Branch
Manager Waterstone's
Bluewater West

Operating profitincreased by 7.8%

1o £24.0 milion, with operating margin
improving to 5.9% from 5.5%.

This performance reflected margin
improvements from improved terms

and promotional support, combined with
tighter control of shrinkage. The latter
highlighted the Benefit of investment in
and utilisation of mproved store systerns,
the improved stock range and increased
focus by al levels of operational
management. The operating margin

also benefited from a consistent attention
1o cost contral across the business,
particularly store labour costs,

The benefits of operational
improvements achieved to date are also
reflected in Waterstone's working capital,
with the average manth end balance
decreasing by £9.0 milion. This success
was reflected in a record stockturn
of 3.4 times, up from 3.2 times in the
prior year.

In Waterstone's the backlist
accounts for the vast majority of sales,
ilustrating the extent to which the range
is the Ffeblood of the business. Thisis
further reinforced by research among
customers, which found that Waterstone's
scored higher than other bookselers in
the key criteria of range, avaiabiity and
knowledge, Nevertheless, further
improving the stock efficiency of the
business' inventory without undermining
the core brand value of range remains
a focus for the coming year. In particular,
the process of stock replenishmentis
being tightened to reduce the number
of muttiple copies of each title held.

Also crucial to Waterstone's set of brand
values is the expertise and knowledge
of bookselers. During the year,
Waterstone's introduced a new field
management team, enabling the
business to draw on experience from
key people from a variety of different
retail backgrounds. Improvements o
the career and personal development
prograrmme for Waterstone's booksellers
were reflected in recrutment trends,
where two-thirds of the branch manager
appointments during the year were from
within Waterstone's. Staff turnover was
also reduced and improved processes
for the recruitment of booksellers were
reflected in high quality temporary staff
employed over the key Christmas period.
The size of Waterstone's store
portfalio was little altered during the
period, save: the previously announced
closure of four stores. In the new financial
year Waterstone's is extending the focus
of the refit programme to over a quarter
of the portfolio, where more fundamental
aspects of store maintenance are being
addressed. The new financial year has
already seen the announcement of the
opening of the first new Waterstone's
store for four years, at Manchester's
Trafford Centre, and further new stores
are planned for this year.
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Financial review
Neil Bright

The 52 week period ended 26 Apri 2003
was ane of substantial achievement,

In May the Group completed both a
flotation on the London Stock Exchange
and arrangement of new bank faciities,
thereby providing a suitable capital
structure from which to prosper.

The Group has demonstrated in its

first year as a listed company its ability
to deliver significant profit growth whie
reducing the capital employed, thereby
generating excellent levels of cash flow.

As a result of the Group's flotation, the
financial results for the 52 weeks ended
26 April 2003 in part reflect the Company's
previous capital structure and include
exceptional costs arising from the flotation.
Consequently, to aid understanding, key
financial measures such as net finance
charges and earnings and dividends per
share are shown on a pro farma basis

as described on page 86.

Operating result
Group sales increased 3.2% to
£1,707.7 milion, with underlying growth
of 4.4% at constant exchange rates
inckiding like for ke sales growth of 1.6%
(HMV 1.9%, Waterstone's 0.9%). With
30% of the Group's total sales ansing in
& currency other than sterling, adverse
foreign exchange movements reduced
sales growth this year by £20.2 milion,
but had no significant impact on profits.
The Group's operating profit
increased by £12.8 milion or 12.1%
tc £118.4 milion, with the operating
margin improving to 6.9% from 6.4%.
This reflected improved gross margin,
which includes store operating costs,
up to 12.6% from 12.1% of sales. Within
this, product margins improved by 50
basis points, primarily in Waterstone's and
HMV UK. Store operating costs were well
controfied throughout the business and
ncluded cenain one-off costs totaling
£3.9 milion, in respect of the closure of
HMV Germany and further store closures
in HMV USA. Administration expenses
increased by £2.2 million on the prior year
but remained consistent at 5.7% of sales.

A full explanation of the trading
performance of the Group is given in
the Operating review on pages 24 10 31

Finance charges

Finance charges before exceptional
items were £22.1 milion, £29.8 milion
lower than the prior year, reflecting the
reduction in average borrowings
folowing the change in the Group's
capital structure, strong operating cash
generation and lower interest rates.
The current year includes a £1.4 milion
cost of replacing interest rate swaps
covering £70 milion of term debt, which
were entered into before the flotation,
with new swaps set at a lower fixed rate.
The exceptional charges in the current
financial year were associated with the
Company's flotation in May 2002 and
are described below.

Pro forma finance charges for the
period, including the swap cancellation
cost, were £21.9 milion, a £3.7 milion
or 14,7% reduction on the pro forma
comparative, primarily reflecting lower
average net borrowings.

Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation excluding
exceptional tems was £96.2 milion
compared with £53.6 milion in the prior
year. Restated on a pro forma basis,
profit before taxation was £96.5 milion,
an increase of £16.5 milion or 20.6%
an the prior year.

Taxation

The taxation charge for the financial

year of £12.9 milion (2002: £17.9 milion}
reflects the full year effective tax rate of
25% applied to profit before taxation

and exceptional charges, offset by a 30%
tax credit in respect of the exceptional
charges arising in the UK. In the absence
of the first time recognition of a deferred
tax asset in respect of HMV Japan,

the underlying tax rate on profit before
exceptional charges would be 31%.

Cash flow and net debt
The Group continues to be a
censistently strong generator of cash,
with a £134.3 milion operating cash inflow
despite significantly increased levels of
capital investrnent. Further working capital
improvements contiblited £26.2 milion,
which means that over the past three
years, working capital impravements
have generated £125 milion of cash flow.
Underlying net debt at 26 April
2003 was £158.6 milion, a reduction of
£85.0 milion or 37.5% on the pro forma
prior year comparative. This debt
reduction combined with the EBITDA
growth ensurad that the Group triggered
a reduction in the interest margin
payable on the Group's senior bank
debt from 1.5% t© 0.875% with effect
from 23 May 2003.

Working capital

The Group has delivered significant
benefit from improved working capital
management in recent years, with
further progress achieved in 2002/03.
Group stockturn reached a record level
of six times and supplier payment terms
were further improved, contributing

to the £26.2 milion cash generation.
Further improving the Group's working
capital efficiency remains a key focus
for management.

Capital expenditure

The Group’s capital structure post flotation
allows a higher level of investment, as
reflected in the £49.0 milion of capital
expenditure in the current year, up from
£23.5 milicn in 2001/02. This investment
funded the successful opening of 21 new
stores in HMV UK at a cost of £8.0 rilion,
together with £10.3 milion spent on an
ongoing programime of upgrading existing
HMV UK stores. Internationally, key capital
projects included the refit of HMV Canada'’s
Toronto superstore and the expansion of
HMV Japan'’s flagship Shibuya store in
Tokyo. In Waterstone's, £8.0 miion was
spent on refurbishment of the existing
store portfolio, including the refit of nine
of our largest stores.
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2003 2002
Cash flow and net debt £m £Em
Operating profit before flotation costs 18.4 105.6
Depreciation 42.2 39.5
EBITDA 160.6 1451
Capital expenditure (45.0) (23.5)
Working capital inflow 26.2 447
Provision spend {3.5) (7.5)
Cther - 0.2
Pro farma operating cash flow 134.3 159.0
Net interest paid (19.5}
Taxation (16.4)
Interim dividend paid (4.4)
Exchange gain 1.0
Net cash inflow 95.0
Pro forma opening net det (253.6)
Closing net debt (158.6)

Comparatve cash flows for not inferost, taxation and dividends refiect the gravious capital structure and bave rorefore not been

reprnsenten above,
Fex explanation of pro forma informaticn see page 86.

Vleasurable
progress
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Financial review continued

Operating leases

All the Group's stores are held under
operating keases. In HMV UK and
Waterstone's the majority of leases are
on standard “institutional” lease terms,
now typically with a 15-year term subject
to five year upwards only rent reviews,
The majority of the Group's international
stores and a minority of UK leases
operate through turnover related leases,
usually with minimum rent guarantees,
and lease terms of five to 10 years,

The Group has an annuai minimum
rental commitment of £107 milon. The total
future rental commitment at the balance
sheet date amounted to £1.2 bilion with

the leases having an average fife of 9.5 years.

The net present value of these commitments
is approximately £0.7 bilion, the majority
of which are in respect of prime, highly
marketable locations.

Return on capital employed

The Group's increased working capital
efficiency contributed to a £15.0 milion
reduction in year end capital employed to
£53.0 milion. Combined with the Group's
improved profitabilty, return on capital
employed rose to 223% from 155%,

and after adjusting for the capitalisation

of operating leases, the return increased
10 19.2% from 16.0%.

Capital structure and refinancing

On 15 May 2002 the Company’s shares
were isted on the London Stock Exchange,
allowing greater flexibility in funding future
capita! expenditure and incentivising
employees, Associated with the fiotation
was a fundamental restructuring of the
funding structure of the Group, which
included a bonus issue for Ordinary
sharehclders and the conversion or
redemption of the Company’s existing
non-equity share capital. In addition,

the proceeds of the global offer were

in part used to repay the £135 milion

and $125 milion Senior Subordinated
Notes, while the Group arranged a new
£275 milion term facity and a new

£150 milion revolving credi facilty,

which were used to repay existing

senior bank facilities.

Exceptional items

As discussed in our interim announcement,
the flotation and refinancing of the Group
at the beginning of the financial year,
gave rise to some significant one-off
costs, These included £6.0 milion of
flotation costs that were charged to the
profit and koss account in the 52 weeks
ended 27 April 2002 {£3.1 milion cash
flow impactin current financial year).
Exceptionat finance costs for the curent
financial year comprise £25.6 milion
arising on the tender for the Senior
Subordinated Notes, £1.0 milion of related
professional fees and £9.7 milion of costs
relating to the issue of the original senior
bank facilty, which had previously been
deferred and were being amortised

over the terrmn of the related debt.

Costs of £8.4 milion associated with

the: arangement of a new bank facity
have been deferred and are being
amortised over the new five-year term,

in accordance with applicable United
Kingdom accounting standards.

Iry addition, a redemption premium
of £11.6 milion was charged to the profit
and loss account on the redemption
of the Senior Preference Shares on
28 June 2002 and further share issue
costs of £18.0 milion have been charged
directly to the share premium account.

Earnings per share

Pro forma earnings per share for the
current financial year were 18.0p.
However, on the basis of the underlying
tax rate previously discussed, underlying
pro forma earnings per share were
16.5p, a 24.1% increase on the pro forma
comparative of 13.3p.

Actual earnings per share were 7.9p
for the year, rising to 17.1p when adjusted
for the effect of exceptionat iterms.
Comparison with the prior year actual
loss per share of 20.7p and adjusted
loss per share of 12,7p, does not take
into account the significant changes to
the Group’s capital structure shortly after
the end of the previous financial year.

Dividend
The Board is recommending a final
dividend of 3.4p per share in addition
to the 1.1 p per share interim dividend
already paid, bringing the total dividend
for the year to 4.5p per share. This wil be
paid on 9 October 2003 to shareholders
on the register at the close of business on
19 September 2003. Shares will be quoted
ex-dividend from 17 September 2003.
The Group's profit and loss
account also includes distributions in
respect of non-equity senior and junior
preference shares. These amounts are
related to the previous capital structure
of the Group, with al non-equity shares
having been redeemed or converted
as a result of the flotation.

Accounting policies

These financiat statements comply with
ali accounting standards issued by the
Accounting Standards Board applicable
to financial staterments at 26 April 2003.
The Group's accounting policies are set
out on pages 598 and 60, and are
cansistent with the prior year.

Retirement benefits
The Group continues to account for
pensions under SSAP 24, but certain
transitional disclosures required under
FRS 17 are set out in Note 26 1o the
financial staterments.

The Group has a number
of pension schemes in operation.
These primarily include defined benefit
arrangements for approximately 1,000
employees almost entirely in the United
Kingdom. Of these, 40% are in the
Group’s own HMV Scheme with the
balance members of EMI Group plc’'s
Fund. A process of pension separation
from EMI commenced on the Group's
flotation, and was completed on
31 May 2003.
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A surplus on the EMI Fund has provided
the Group with a partial contribution
holiday, a pension cost only being
recognised under SSAP 24 in respect
of the HMV Scheme in 2002/03
{£1.0 milion). In accordance with actuarial
advice the Group has increased the
employer contribution rate to 12.9% from
1 June 2003 (from 11%), which combined
with the transfer of members from the
EMI Fund willincrease the Group's SSAP
24 pension cost and cash contributions
in 2003/04 10 approximately £3.5 milicon.

Under FRS 17 the Group would
similary not have been required to recognise
a costin respect of its membership of the
EMi Fund in 2002/03. If calculated under
FRS 17, the pension cost of the HMVY
Scheme in 2002/03 would have been
£0.6 milion higher than has been stated
under SSAP 24. In 2003/04, after the
transfer of members from the EMI Fund,
the total flustrative FRS 17 pension cost of
the Group's defined benefit arangements
is expected 10 be approximately £4.7 milion.

In respect of the funding position of
the HMV Scheme, the recently completed
actuarial valuation as at 30 June 2002
identified a small deficit of £0.9 milion,
which is being funded by the increased
contribution rate. The pension kabiities
that will be transferred from the EMI Fund
to the HMV Scheme will be fully funded
as at the date of transfer. Therefore, the
enlarged HMV Scheme will have a small
deficit of £0.8 milion on combined assets
of approximately £33 milion. Calculated
under FRS 17, the enlarged HMV Scheme
would show a deficit, net of deferred tax,
of £11.8 milion.

The potential impact on the Group
of the eventual implementation of FRS 17
or a comparable international standard
is imited since the defined benefit
schemes were closed to new joiners from
1 January 2002, With just 50 pensioners
in the HMV Scheme, pension liabilties
wil also be controlled by normal staff
trnover reducing the active membership
over time.

Treasury policies and financial

risk management

The Group’s Treasury Department is
principally responsibie for managing
the Group’s funding arrangements and
certain financial risks, described below,
to which the Group is exposed.
Treasury manages these risks using
policies approved by the Board.

Liquidity risk

The Group has committed bank faciities
comprising a term loan of £250 milicn and
a revolving credit faciity of £150 milion,
which together with cash on deposit
provides sufficient funding for the Group's
operations. The adequacy of the funding
arrangements is reviewed regularly,

In accordance with the facility
agreement, £25 milion of term debt
was repaid during the financial year,
and a further £25 milion will be repaid next
year. At 26 April 2003, the Group had
undrawn committed bank faciities phis
cash available to it totaling £241.4 milion,

interest rate risk

The Group's bank term debt carries

a variable rate of interest linked to
prevailng interest rates. In order to
mitigate the risk of a rise in interest rates,
the Group has entered into several
interest rate derivative contracts such
that 60% of the term debt carries a
fixed rate of interest. The position is
reviewed regularly.

At 26 April 2003, £100 milion of
term debt was floating rate, bearing an
interest rate of LIBOR (3.67%) plus a
margin of 1.50%, and £150 milion of
term debt has been fixed at a weighted
average rate of 4.67% plus a margin
of 1.50%. However, from 23 May 2003
the margin on the senior bank debt has
reduced to 0.875% reflecting a lower
ratio of net debt to EBITDA.

During the year the Group canceled some
of its interest rate contracts under which

it was paying a fixed rate of 5.39%,

and entered nto a new contract under
which it pays 3.57% (both figures excluding
the interest margin). The cost of this
transaction dusing the year was £1.4 milion,
but this will be offset by the lower interest
payments under the new contract.

Counterparty risk

Treasury deposits any cash balances
that arise with counterparties that have
a strong credit rating, with an agreed
limit for each counterparty, so as o
lirmit the risk of loss arising from a failure.
Counterparties include AAA-rated
Liquidity funds, and various banks.

At 26 April 2003, the Group had
cash deposits and bank balances totaling
£104.6 milion of which the largest deposit
was £43.7 milion held with a AAA-rated
licquaiciity fund,

Foreign exchange risk

The Group uses forward foreign exchange
contracts to hedge the foreign exchange
risk of imports where volumes are
significant. However, the Group's operating
businesses generaly source the majority
of their product from suppliers within their
country of operation and so the foreign
exchange exposure is small.

The Group is also exposed to
foreign currency translation risk through
its investment in overseas subsidiaries,
This is partially hedged by local debt, but
the Group does not hedge the remaining
exposure. Generally, the Group does
not hedge any net translation exposure
of overseas earnings, atthough it may in
certain circumstances implement hedges
to secure short-term financial objectives.

Further information is available
n Note 19 1o the Financial Statements.

[\}. ﬁ\mw

Neil Bright Group Finance Director
30 June 2003
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Board of Directors

Executive Directors
o1 Alan Giles (49)

Chief Executive Officer

Appointed to the Board as Joint Chief Executive
on 27 March 1998 and became sole Chief
Executive on 26 March 1999, He jcined WH Smith
in 1982, after seven years in buying and marketing
with Boots the Chemists. Mr Glles was appointed
to the board of WH Smith Group pic in November
1995. Previcus roles within WH Smith included
Operations and Development Director for Do It Al

and General Manager (Books) for WH Smith Retad,

He served as Managing Director of Waterstone's
from February 1993 1o Aprl 1999, Heis a
nen-executive drrector of Somerfield pic.

06 04

02 Brian McLaughliin (53)

Chief Operating Officer

Appcinted to the Board on 23 March 1988 and
became the Group's Chief Operating Officer in
January 2001, He was appointed Managing
Directer of HMV Europe in Becember 1986, and
prior to that, was Managing Director of HMV UK,
a position he had held since 1987. Mr McLaughiin
has spent aimost all his working life with HMV UK
and, latterty, the Company, having originaly joined
as a sales assistant in 1968. Mr Mclaughiin worked
his way through the organisation via store and
regional management positions before being
appointed Operations Director and subsequently
Managing Director. He is a member of the
Government's Music Industry Committee.

03

03 Nei Bright (40)

Group Finance Director

Appointed to the Board as Finance Director

on 27 March 1998. He is a Chartered
Accountant, having trained and qualified with
Coopers & Lybrand in London. Mr Bright joined
HMV in August 1996 as Group Finance Director
from its parent company, THORN EMI pic

(as EMI Group plc was formeny known),
where he was Group Planning Manager.

Q2
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o1

Non-Executive Directors

04 Eric Nicoli (52)

Chairman

Appocinted to the Board on 25 January 2000 and
became Chairman of the Company in March 2001,
He has been Executive Chairman of EMI since July
1999, having been appointed to its board as a
non-executive director in 1993, Mr Nicok was
formally Group Chief Executive of United Biscuits
(Holdings) ple, having been appointed {c the beard
i 1989, Mr Nicol is non-executive Chairman of
The Tussauds Group Limited, Chairman of the
PerCent Club, a Deputy Charman of Business in
the Community and a trustee of Comic Relief
Limited. Mr Nicol is Chairman of the Nominations
Committee and a member of the Aucit and
Remuneration Committees.

05 Roy Brown (56)

Deputy ChaFman

and Senior Independent Director
Appointed to the Board on 23 Aprit 2002,

He joined the Uniiever Group in 1974 and held
several postions in finance, marketing, technical
and general management before joining the main
board of Unilever plc and NV in 1992. He was
director responsible for Africa, Middie East, Central
and Eastern Europe, and then European Foods
before retiring in 2001. Mr Brown is non-executive
Charman of Thus plc, a non-executive director of
GKN pic, Brambles Industries plc and BUPA and

a member of the Lioyds Franchise Board. Mr Brown
is Chaiman of the Remunreration Commitiee. a
member of the Audit and Nominations Committees
and the Senior independent Non-E xecutive Crector.

a7

08 David Kappler (56)

Appointed to the Board on 23 Apri 2002.

He is Chief Financiat Officer of Cadbury
Schweppes plc, a post he has held for eight
years, and which includes responsibility for IT,
Mergers and Acquisitons, Strategic Development
and Investor Relations. He held positions in
Cadbury Limited and Cadbury Schweppes'
Health and Hygiene Division from 1965 te 1984,
He rejoined Cadbury Schweppes in 1989,
following the acquisition of the Trebor Group

of which he was Finance Director, becoming
Director of Corporate Finance and then Chief
Financial Officer. He served as a non-executive
director of Camelot Group plc from 1995-2002.
Mr Kapgler is Chairman of the Audit Committee
and a member of the Nominations and
Remuneration Committees.

07 Lesley Knox (49)

Appointed to the Board on 23 April 2002.

She was a founder director of British Linen
Advisors, a specialist corporate finance advisor
focusing on growth companies. Prior to that she
spent 18 years at the Kleinwort Benson Group
where she was a corporate finance director
and for five years head of Institutional Asset
Management. She is a non-executive director
of the Allance Trusts, MFI Furniture Group plc,
Hays pk and Babtie Limited. She is also a
Gaovernor of the Museumn of London and a
director of arts charity Mall Galleries Limited,

Ms Knox is a member of the Audit. Nominations
and Remuneration Committees.

09 08

08 Mark McCafferty (44)

Appointed to the Board on 23 Apri 2002.

He is Chief Executive, Avis Europe: plc. He: joined
Avis in Aprit 1998 as Group Managing Director
and became Chief Executive in January 1999,
Previcusly, Mr McCafferty was Managing Director.
Wordwide Travel-Related Businesses at Thomas
Cook Group. He spent 10 years at Thomas
Cook, including seven years heading the

North American businesses, He jeined Thomas
Cook from Midiand Bank International in 1988
and is an Associate of the Institute of Bankers.
Mr McCafferty is a member of the Audit,
Nominations and Remuneration Committees.

09 Steven Tadler (43)

Appainted to the Board on 19 February 1988,

He is a Managing Director with the London

office of Advent Internationai plc. He joined
Adventin Boston in 1986, and before moving

ta London in 1997, was responsible for

Advent's North American leveraged buy-out
operaticns where refal/consumer was a sector
specialisation. Prior to joining Advent, he worked
for Manufacturers Hanaver Trust Co, providing
financing for a number of leveraged buy-outs,
technology-orented firms and special situations.,
Mr Tadler is a non-executive directer of a number
of companies. Mr Tadier is a member of the Audit,
Nominations and Remuneration Committees.

G5
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Corporate governance

Staternent of Compliance with the Combined Code

During the financial period ended 26 April 2003 the Company has been fully compliant with the Code of Best Practice

as set out in Section 1 of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance ("the Combined Code™) which is appended to
the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, Accordingly, the Board sets out below its report on how it applies the
principles of the Comhined Code, excluding those areas which are specifically reported on elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Statement of application of the principles of the Combined Code

The Board comprises six Non-Executive Directors, including the Chairman whao is responsible for running the Board,
and three Executive Directors being the Chief Executive Officer who has overal responsibiity for running the Company’s
business, the Chief Operating Officer and the Greoup Finance Director. The Board considers four of the Non-Executive
Directors t¢ be independent of management and free from any business or other refationship which could materially
interfere with the exercise of their independent judgement. Eric Nicoli the Chairman, is the Executive Chairman of

EMI Group plc, a major supplier of the Company and is by virtue of this relationship not considered 1o be independent.
Steven Tadler is a director of Advent International plc, which through its fund management is a major shareholder in the
Company - he is therefore also not considered independent. The Company believes that the Directors have between
them a wide range of experience which ensures an effective Board to lead and control the Group.

In accordance with recommendations of the Combined Code Non-Executive Directors comprise more than one
third of the Board. Non-Executive Directors are appainted for initial terms of three years and the Articles of Association
include a requirement that all Directors submit themselves for re-election by the shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting held in the third calendar year following his or her election or re-election, as the case may be.

In accordance with the recommaendations of the Combined Code, Roy Brown, the Deputy Chairman, was
appointed as the Senior Independent Non-Executive Director on 23 July 2002. The other independent Non-Executive
Directors are David Kappler, Mark McCafferty and Lesley Knox.

The biographical detais of the members of the Board are set out on pages 36 and 37.

The Board, which together with sub-committees of the Board (other than the Audit, Nominations or Remuneration
Committees), met on 16 occasions during the financial year ended 26 April 2003, provides effective leadership and
manages overal control of the Group’s affairs and to this end bas reserved certain matters for decision by the Board
only. These include approval of the annual budget, major capital expenditure, significant acquisitions and disposals, risk
management policies and the approval of financial statements. The Board is suppled in a timely manner on a regular
basis with information in a form and of a qualty appropriate 1o enable it to discharge its duties.

On appointment to the Board, all Directors are given a briefing on their responsibiliies as Directors and thereafter
receive further guidance as and when required. Training pregrammes, including induction into the operations of the
Company, are being developed for future newly appeinted Directors. There are also procedures for the Directors to take
independent professional advice at the cost of the Company, if appropriate. No advice was sought by the Directors in the
year under review,

Al the Directors have access to the advice and services of the Campany Secretary who is responsible to the Board
for enswring that board procedures and applicable rules and regulations are followed., The appointment and removal of the
Company Secretary is a matter for the Board as a whole.

In general terms, the Chalrman manages the Board to ensure that the Company has appropriate objectives and
an effective strategy; that there is a Chief Executive Officer with a team able to implement the strategy; that there are
procedures in place to inform the Board of performance against objectives and that the Company is operating in
accordance with the highest standards of corporate governance.

The Board delegates certain of its responsibiities to Board Committees with clearly defined authority and terms
of reference. The compositicn and main functions of these Committees are described below.,

Board Committees

The Chairmen of each of the Board Committees will be available to answer sharehaolders’ questions at the Annual General
Meeting to be held on 29 September 2003.

The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee, which meets a minimum of three times a year, is comprised of David Kappler (Chairman),
Roy Brown. Lesley Knox, Mark McCafferty, Eric Nicol and Steven Tadler, The Audit Committee met on four accasions
during the year under review.

The Chief Executive Officer, Group Finance Director, the Head of Internal Audit and the external auditors attend
meetings at the invitation of the Audit Committee,

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to:

* Review, an behalf of the Board, the financial statements and prelfiminary and interim results;

* Review the nature and scope of the external audit and the findings of the external auditors;

* Review, on behalf of the Board, the Group's systems of internal control;

+ Review and direct the internal audit function and findings;

« Make recommendations to the Board concerning the appointment and remuneration of the external auditors; and
+ Review the cost effectiveness and objectivity and independence of the external auditors.

The ultimate responsibility for reviewing and approving the Group’s annual report, financial staterments and prefiminary
and interim results remains with the Board.

The Chairman of the Audi Commiittee reports the outcome of Audit Committee meetings to the Board.
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The Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee met on seven occasions in the year under review. The members of the Remuneration
Committee are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 41. The Remuneration Committee meets as and
when required each year.

The Chief Executive Officer and the Group Hurman Resources Director attend meetings at the invitation of the:
Remuneration Committee.

The principal functions of the Remuneration Cammittee are, on behalf of the Board and the shareholders:

« To determine the Company’s policy for executive remuneration;

+ To determine the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors, including pension rights and compensation
payments; and

= To oversee the implementation and operation of share incentive schemes.

The Chairman of the Remuneration Cammittee reparts the outcome of the Remuneration Committee meetings
to the Board.

The Board's Remuneration Report on pages 41 to 49 sets out the Company's appication of the principles of
Section 1B of the Combined Code and the Companies Act 1985.

The Nominations Commiittee

The Nominations Committee comprises Eric Nicoli (Chairman), Roy Brown, David Kappler, Lesley Knox, Mark McCafferty
and Steven Tadler. The Nominations Committee meets as and when required each year. It did not meet during the year
under review.

The principal functions of the Nominations Committee are to:
+ Consider the composition of the Board;

+ Consider retiremenits and appointments to the Board; and
+ Make recommendations in these respects to the Board.

The Chairman of the Nominations Committee reports the outceme of the Nominations Committee meetings to the Board.

internal controls

The Board is responsible for the Group's systerm of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness, whilst the role

of management is to implement Board policies on risk and control. A systern of internal control is designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of faiure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reascnable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of the risk management process and significant risk issues are
referred 1o the Board for consideration.

The Board confirms that it has reviewed the Group's system of internal controls including financial ocperational and
compliance controls as well as risk rmanagement, and that these accord with the guidance on internat controls set out in
the Turnbull Repert, that such controls have been in place during the year under review and up to the date of approval of
the annual report and accounts, and that there are satisfactory ongeing processes for identifying, evaluating and managing
the significant risks faced by the Group. These pracesses accord with provision D.2.1 of the Combined Code.

The systems of internal control and the processes used by the Board to review the effectiveness of those
systems include:

Group

« Regular Board meetings with a formal schedule of matters reserved to the Board for decisior;

+ Clearly defined organisational structures and appropriate delegated authorities;

» Regular performance monitaring with remedial action taken where necessary;

+ Established procedures for planning, approving and monitoring major projects;

« A comprehensive system of financial reporting which includes an annual budget process. monthly reporting with roling
forecasts, and half year and annual reporting to enable the Group to meets its public financial reporting reguirements;

« Certain centralised functions that are staffed by appropriately qualfied individuals who draw on external professional
advice. These functions include finance, tax, treasury, management information senices, legal, company secretarial,
and internal audit;

« A Policies and Procedures Manual which sets out, inter alia, authority limits and guidelnes for capital expenditure, which
inckude annual budgets and appraisal and review procedures, Al operating businesses have to confirm compliance with
the Manual on an annual basis;

+ Detailed risk registers which describe the significant risks and control strategies in each area of the business and which
are reviewed annually; and

« An internal audit function which canies out a programme of audits covering the management of significant corporate
risks, and reports directly to the Audit Commiittee and the Board on the effectiveness of key internal controls.
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Corporate governance continued

Audit Committee

+ Approving the scope of the annual Group risk management programme;

» Reviewing the results of the risk identification process;

» Providing input on risks and internal controls into the annual Board strategy discussions;

* Reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management process and discussing significant risk issues with the Board;

« Considering reports from internal and external audit on the system of internal control and any material control
weaknesses;

* Reviewing the internal audit and external audit werk plans; and

- At the year end, before producing the statement in the Annual Report and Accounts, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, considers reports generated from internal and external audit on any major problems that have occurred
during the year.

Relations with shareholders

The Directors place high importance on maintaining good relationships with both institutional and private investors and
ensure, through an Investor Relations programme, that sharehaolders are kept informed of significant Group developments,
Shareholders can access further information on the Group via the website at www.hmvgroup.com. In addition, members
of the Board meet regularly with institutional shareholders and analysts, and the Directors welcome the opportunity 1o
meet with private investors at the Company's general meetings, where shareholders are invited to ask questions and
express views on the Company’s business. The Chairmen of all the Board Committees wil be in attendance at the
Company's Annual General Meeting in September.

Accountabiity and audit

The Board is aware of its responsibility to present a clear and balanced assessment of the Group’'s financial position and
prospects. This assessment is provided primarily in the statements from the Chairman and Chief Executive, and in the
Operating review and Financial review on pages 18 1o 35.

The Audit Committee reviews the independence and ohjectivity of the external auditors with a view to confirming
that, in its view, the maintenance of objectivity on the one hand and value for money on the other has been kept
appropriately in balance, In this context, the Audit Committee considers that it is appropriate for the external auditor to
provide to the Group tax advice, tax planning and other accounting services, including those in connection with supporting
and reporting on financial representations in public documentation. The pravision of other services is considered on a
case-by-case basis. Details of the fees paid in the year under review are given on page 63.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are required by company law to prepare financiai statements for each financial year which give a true and fair

view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group and of the profit or loss of the Group for that period. In preparing

those financial statements, the Directors are required to:

« Select sultable accounting policies and then apply thern consistently;

« Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

= State whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements,

The Directors confirm that they have complied with these requirements in preparing the financial statements on pages
5410 84,

The Directors are responsible for maintaining adequate accounting records which disclose, with reasonable
accuracy at any time, the financial pesition of the Group and which enable them to ensure that the financlal statements
comply with the Companies Act 1985. They also have a general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably
open o them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other iregularities.

Going concern

The Directors believe, after making inquiries that they consider to be appropriate, that the Group has adequate resources
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern
basis in preparing the financial statements.
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Directors’ remuneration report

The Board presents its Remuneration Report to the members of the Company. In preparing this report and establishing
its policy the Board has given full consideration to, and follows the provisions of, the Combined Code and the Companies
Act 1985.

In accordance with the Companies Act the tables setting out Directors’ pension arrangements, remuneration,
interests in shares and share opticns of the Company and benefits under long-term incentive schemes, on
pages 44 to 48 have been audited. The other information on pages 41to 43 and 48 and 49 is not required to be audited.

Caonstitution of the Rermuneration Committee

The Remuneration Comimittee, which is chaired by Roy Brown and also comprises David Kappler, Lesley Knox, Mark
McCafferty, Eric Nicol and Steven Tadler meets as required each year (not normally less than four times a year) on behalf
of the Board and the shareholders. The Remuneration Committee’s remit is, to determine the Company's policy for
executive remuneration, to determine the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and certain other senior
executives, including pension rights and compensation payments, and to oversee the implementation and operation

of share incentive schemes.

Adlvisers

The Remuneraticn Committee takes advice and/or obtains services from the following individual and entities all of whom
were appointed by the Company:

(a) externally, from Inbucon-Meis, on executive salaries, incentives and employee share schemes;
(&) externaly, from Watson Wyatt LLP on pension matters:

{€) externaly, from Mayer, Brown, Rowe & Maw LLP and DLA, soliciors, on employment contracts and associated legal
issues. Mayer, Brown, Rowe & Maw LLP also provide other legal services to the Group; and

{d) intermally, from the Group Human Resources Director, Mike Lymath; Mr. Lymath assists the Remuneration Committee
by preparing an annual report on succession planning together with recermmendations on share option grants and
reviewing incentive arrangements. Mr Lymath is not present for any discussion abiout his own emoluments.

The Chief Executive of the Company, Alan Giles, is normally invited by the Remuneration Committee to attend meetings
of the Committee but is not present for any discussion about his own emcluments.

General policy
The Company's remuneration policy aims to align the interests of Executive Directors and other senior executives with
those of its shareholders. It is the Remuneration Committee’s polcy that variable performance-related pay and incentives
should account for an increasing proportion of the overall remuneration package of Executive Directors so that the
remuneration of Executive Directors is aligned with the Group’s performance.

In setting the Company’s remuneration policy, therefore, the Remuneration Committee believes that the
Company should:

(@) provide competitive awards, which wil attract and retain high calibre management necessary 1o enable the

Company to operate in the highly competitive retai sector and which reflect individual responsibilties and
experience; and

{o)  provide incentive arrangements which are subject to challenging performance targets reflecting the Company's
objectives and which metivate executives to focus on both annual and longer term performance.,

Performance targets are designed to provide maximum awards for exceptional performance. The Remuneration
Committee intends that Executive Director basic salary be positioned at or around the median levelin the marketplace
with the incentive arrangements (if performance targets are met) bringing overal remuneration into the upper quartle
for the marketplace.

Executive Directors' remuneration is currently provided in the form of a combination of basic salary, an annual and
a deferred share bonus, and share options (further details of which are given below) through the HMV Group ple Incentive
Plan for Senior Executives ("the HIP Scheme”).

This remuneration policy was originally adopted by the Board in 2001 and the Remuneration Committee intends
to continue to recommend this policy to the Board for the next financial year and financial years after that. There are no
current intentions to change this policy.

Itis the Company's poicy that no Executive Director should have a fixed term service contract or notice pericd
exceeding one year and that no Non-Executive Directar should have a letter of appointment for a term of more than
three years, Al the current Directors’ service contracts or letters of appointment comply with this policy.




42 HMY Group plc
wwan hmygroup.com

Directors’ remuneration report continued

Components of the Executive Directors’ remuneration
The main components of the Executive Directors’ remuneration are:

Salary
The basic safary for each Executive Director is determined by taking into account an assessment of that Executive

Director's performance, experience, responsibiities and market value. Salaries are reviewed with effect from 1 July
each year.

Benefits in kind
Benefis in kind include provision of a company car or car alowance, pension, medical and life insurance, permanent
health insurance, fuel alowance, relocation alowance and staff discount.

The HIP Scheme

In 2001 the Company introduced the HIP Scheme. The HIP Scherme has three elements - an annual non-pensionable
performance related cash bonus, a deferred performance related annual bonus payable in shares (save for the award
in 2001) and share options. The HIP Scheme is designed to provide an incentive for senior management 1o achieve

and exceed targets set by the Remuneration Committee and to ensure that annual remuneration varies in line with
corporate performance,

Annual bonus
The annuat bonus (“the initial award”) awarded to each Executive Direclor is a percentage of salary based on the

performance of the Group. The annual bonus is a payment in cash after the end of the financial year o which the
performance relates.

Deferred annual bonus

The HIP Scheme is currently operated so that an annual deferred bonus (“the deferred award”) is awarded to the
Executive Directors based on the performance of the Group. This normally vests following the third anniversary of the
end of the financial year in respect of which the award is made. The maximum value of the deferred award (at the time
the award is made) is the amount of the initial award paid in respect of the same year and vesting of such award is
subject 1o further demanding cumulative performance targets based on the performance of the Group over that three
year period (the targets being cumulative budgeted Group EBITDA after notional interest} and the performance of the
indvidual. The award for the financial year 2000/01 vests not at the end of the three year period but instead a proportion
of the award is paid at the end of each of the financial years in that three year period (provided the further performance
targets have been met). Payments for the 2000/0% award wil be made in cash. The payments for the 2001/02 award
will be made in shares and it is intended that all awards in respect of future financial periods wil be made in shares.
Where payment is made in shares, the number of shares awarded is determined by reference to the value of the
shares at the time the award is made, not when it is paid.

Performance targets in respect of the annual bonus and deferred annual bonus

Performance targets to determine the amount of the initial award and the maximum value (when awarded) of the

deferred award are measured by reference to a target EBITDA after notional interest, target EBITDA and target stockiurn.
If the target EBITDA after noticnal interest is reached then, for the Executive Directors, a sum equivalent to 25% of

therr salary is awarded under both the initial award and the deferred award. If the target EBITDA after notional interest is not

reached, the Executive Directors may stil receive an award on a sliding scale of up to 25% of salary for each of the initial

award and the deferred award for perfiormance between 90% and 100% of target EBITDA after notional interest.

For perforrmance above target EBITDA after notional interest and providing that target EBITDA has been achieved,
awards are made to the Executive Directors on a sliding scale of up Lo a further 50% of salary (making a maximum award
of 75% of salary) for both the initial award and deferred award. The steckiurn target must alse be met for the maximum
award to be made.

For the 52 weeks to 26 April 2003 all of the relevant targets have been met and the maximum awards of 75%
of salary for each of the initial award and the deferred award wil be made 1 the Executive Directors.

The perforrmance targets outined above were chosen by the Remuneration Committee because they align
the interests of the Executive Directors with those of the Company's shareholders. The assessment of whether these

performance targets have been met has been carried out by the Remuneration Committee by reference to the
audited accounts.

The deferred awards made to date are set out on page 46.
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Share options
Unitil the Initial Public Offering of the Company in 2002 the Company operated the HMV Group plc Senior Executive
Share Option Scheme ("the 1998 Scheme™); no further grants wil be made through the 1998 Scheme.

Al grants made under the 1998 Scheme were subject to performance targets, as set out below. Detais of the
options held by the Executive Directors under the 1998 Scheme and not yet exercised are set out on page 47.

Qutstanding grants made on 22 January 1999 are curently exercisable following the achievement of the relevant
EBITDA targets for the 1998/99, 1999/00 and 2000/01 financial years.

Grants made on 7 September 2000 and 26 February 2002 became exercisable in tranches upon and following the
Initial Public Offering of the Company in May 2002 {achievement of the Initial Public Offering being the performance target).
The first tranche of these options became exercisable upon the Initial Public Offering. The second tranche became
exercisable on the first anniversary of the date of initial Public Offering (May 2003) and the third tranche wil become
exercisable on the second anniversary of the date of Initial Public Offering (May 2004).

Prior to the Inidal Public Offering a new executive share aption scheme, the HMV Group ple 2002 Executive Share
Option Scheme ("the 2002 Scheme”) was adopted. If is Intended that this scheme be used for further grants of options to
the Executive Directors under the HIP Scheme.

Options 1o acquire shares under the 2002 Scheme will be granted on a regudar basis (usually annually) thus ensuring
reward is spread over a number of years and is alied to the long term growth in shareholder value. The options can
normally only be exercisable after three years and then subject to the achievement of earnings per share targets imposed
by the Remuneration Committee at the date of grant. The grants of options made to the Executive Directors under the
2002 Scheme are also set out on page 47. For these options 40% of the option shall be exercisable if the Company’s
eamings per share exceeds the growth in the Retall Prices Index by at lkeast 3% per annum. 100% of the option shall be
exercisabie if the Company's earnings per share growth exceeds the growth in the Retail Prices Index by at least 7% per
annum, Vesting wil occur on a straight ine basis between these two poirits. Eamings per sheare was determined by the
Remuneration Committee to be the appropriate criterion given its clear inkage with shareholder value. The assessment of
whether these performance conditions have been met will be caried out by the Remuneration Committee by reference
to the audited accounts.

The next grant of options under the 2002 Scheme is expected to take place in July 2003.

SiP
The Company also adopted in 2002 the HMV Group pic Share Incentive Plan ("the SIP"); this plan is intended to allow the
Company to align the interests of al employees {including the Executive Directors, all of whom are efigible to participate)
more closely with the interests of shareholders. The Company has established two new employee benefit trusts ("the UK
Trust” and "the Overseas Trust”) to faciltate the operation of these schemes.

Under the SIP employees may acquire Ordinary Shares in three ways. First, the Company can use the SIP as part
of its broad incentive arrangements by awarding free shares to employees; in this regard an award of 120 Free Shares was
made to every eligible employee, including the Executive Directors, on the Initial Pubic Offering. The Free Shares are, for UK
employees, held by the UK Trust, subject to the rules of the SIP. and are not normally vested in the individual employee until
she/he has completed ane year's service from date of award. There are no current plans to award further Free Shares
to any employees. Secondly, the Company may invite emgployees to purchase Orclinary Shares, known as Partnership
Shares, and thirdly, the Company may, if # wishes, agree to match the shares purchased with additional shares, known as
Matching Shares. The Company has matched on a one for one basis since the inception of the plan and these Matching
Shares do not vest until the employee has completed one year's service from the date of the award.

Allthe Executive Directors participate in the SIP and their awards are set out on page 48.

Performance graph

The graph below shows the percentage change in the total shareholder return from the date of flotation to the end of
the financial year against both the FTSE 250 and the FTSE General Retailers Index, both of which the Board considers
to be appropriate peer groups for the Company as the Company forms part of both these indices.

Total Shareholder Return: HMV Group vs FTSE General Retailers and FTSE 250 Index
for the pericd 15 May 2002 to 26 April 2003
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The staring value for the Company is based on the offer price of 192p, on 15 May 2002,
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Pension arrangements

For all Executive Directors, only basic salary is pensionable. The normal retrement date for Executive Directors is 60.

Alan Giles is currently a member of the HMV Group Pension Scheme ("HMV Scheme") which is a contracted-out
defined benefit scheme providing him with benefits of up to one-thirtieth of final pensionable pay for each year of service.
Mr Giles contributes 4% of his base salary annually as a contribution to the HMV Scheme. In the event of his death during
employment his dependants would receive a pension and a lump sum.

As at 26 April 2003 Brian Mcl.aughiin was a member of the EMI Group Pension Fund {"EME Fund”) whichis a
contracted-out defined benefit scheme praviding him with benefits of up to one-thirtieth of final pensionable pay for each
year of service. Mr McLaughiin contributes 4% of his base salary annually as a contribution to the EMI Fund. In the event
of his death during employment, his dependants would receive a pension and a lump sum.

As at 26 Aprit 2003 Neil Bright was a member of the EMI Fund; Mr Bright joined the EMI Fund after 21 May 1989 and
is therefore subject to the salary "capping” provided for in the Finance Act 1989. The EMI Fund therefore provides Mr Bright
with benefits of up to one-thittieth of the "capped” salary for each year of service. Mr Bright contributes 4% of his "capped”
salary annually as a contribution to the EMI Fund, The Company, in addition, contributes to a separate money purchase
plan which provides him with additional benefits through a FURBS (as noted below).

With effect from 1 June 2003 all members of the EMI Fund were offered the opportunity to transfer their pension
benefits to the HMV Scheme. Mr McLaughlin and Mr Bright efected to make such a transfer which was effective from
1 June 2003. Their benefits remain identical to the benefits they enjoyed under the EMI Fund.

(10)

Transfer value

of increase

(5 (8) N te)] in accrued

(4} Increase Transfer Transfer Increase pension

(3} Increase  in accrued value of value of (8) in transfer during the

Accrued  inaccrued pension accrued accrued Directors” value over  year {net of

pension at pension during the pension at pension at contributions  the year. net  inflation and

26 April during  year (net of 26 April 27 April during of Directors’ Directors'

(n 2) 2003 the year inflation) 2003 2002 the year contributions contributions)

Name Age £000 p.a. £00C0 pa. £000 p.a. £00C £000 £000 £000 £000

Alan Giles 48 156 44 42 1,195 1170 14 10 3086

Brian McLaughiin 53 323 a8 84 3,470 2,880 15 575 890

Nei Bright 40 19 2 2 82 98 4 20 )

Notes:

1
2
3
4
5
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Details of Directors' remuneration

Base salary Taxable Annual Deferred Total Total Total
and fees £xpenses bonus bonus boruses remuneration remuneraton
2003 2003 2003 2003 2003 2003 2002
£000 £0C0 £000 E0QO £000 £000 £000
Executive Directors
Alan Giles 376 2 212 60 332 710 673
Brian McLaughtin 387 2 281 61 342 731 675
Neit Bright 245 1 166 38 204 450 421
Non-Executive Directors
Eric Nicol 10 - - - - 110 10
Roy Brown 50 - - - - 50 -
David Kappler 35 - - - - 35 -
Lesley Knox 30 - - - - 30 -
Mark McCafferty 30 - - - - 30 -
Steven Tadler 30 - - - - 30 10
Notes:
"
2

Directors’ interests in shares
The Directors who held office at any time during the financial year had the following interests (beneficial and

non-beneficiall in the share capital of the Company in addition to the interests in execulive share options and other
employes share schemes set out below:

Junior Preference Shares® Ordinary Shares®

26 Apr 27 Aprl 26 Apr 27 Aprl

2003 2002 2003 2002

Eric Nicoli - - 10,417 -
Roy Brown - - 1,042 -
Alan Giles - 23600 836,558 1075025
Brian Mclaughiin - 9,440 35,963 269,877
Nei Bright - - 306,145 533,776
David Kappler - - 7,813 -
Lesley Knox - - 7.813 -
Mark McCafferty - - 2.604 -
Steven Tadler®™ - 932,168 638,711 289,536

(@
(i

(i)

()

)

Each Junior Preference Share was converted into approximately 0.86 Ordinary Shares on 8 May 2002
The interests in Ordinary Shares shown for 27 April 2002 have been restated to reflect the bonus issue of 4.33776 shares for each
Ordinary Share held on 8 May 2002,
The interests shown above for Mr Tadler arise by virtue of his interest as a imited partner in certain of the Advent funds. Mr Tadler's
interests as at 27 April 2002 have been restated to reflect only those Advent funds in which Mr Tadler had an interest (in accordance
with Section 324 Companies Act 1985}, instead of the enlire Advent Holding disciosed in the 2002 Annual Report. I addilion to the funds
disclosed above, Advent International has an interest in a further 31,122,818 shares at 26 Apni 2003 {2002: Junior Preference Shares
45,275,760; Ordinary Shares 14,235.133).
In addition each of the Executive Directors had an interest as a potential beneficiany in three employee benefit trusts as at 26 Apri 2003
as follows:
(a) 421,563 Ordinary Shares held by the HMV Group Empicyee Trust which currently holds shares which it is intended will be used
to fulfii the deferred share bonus;
L) 1.387.828 Ordinary Shares held by the HMVY UK Share Incentive Plan Trust, in which the Executive Directors currently participate
as described below, and
(c) 412,078 Ordinary Shares held by the HMV Overseas Share Incentive Plan Trust in which the Executive Directors <o not participate.
The interests shown above far all the Executive Directors include the interest each Executive Director has under the SIP and which are set
out, for clarification, on page 48.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

During the year ended 26 April 2003 the Directors disposed of the folowing shares at a price of £1.92 each {as part of
the Initial Public Offering and following the bonus issue and conversion referred to on page 45):

Alan Gies 260,274
Brian McLaughfin 243,462
Neil Bright 229,008
Steven Tadler™ 457,896

*The disposal by Mr Tadler represents disposals by Advent funds in which he had an interest. An additional 22,312,000
shares were disposed of by fusther funds managed by Advent International Corporation, in which Mr Tadler did not
have an interest.

There have been no changes to the shareholdings of the Directors since 26 April 2003 subject only 1o the
participation by the Executive Directors in the SIP.

Deferred annual bonus

The following deferred awards are being held for the Executive Directors, the award made on 24 April 2001 being made
in cash and the award made on 8 July 2002 being in Ordinary Shares:

Number Market Interests nterests
Cash of shares price of asat asat Performance Amount Number
Catcof condticnaly conditionalty shares 27 Apri 26 Aprl period of cash of shares
award awarded awarded atgrant 2002 2003 ending vested vested
Executive
Directors
Alan 24 Apr £240,000 - - £240000 £180,000 24 Apr £60,000
Giles 2001 2004
8Jul - 165,483 £1.55 - 165,483 30 Apr -
2002 shares 2005
Brian 24 Apr  £243750 - - E243750 £182,812 24 Apr £60,938
Mciaughiin 2001 2004
8 Jul 165,483 £1.55 - 165,483 30 Apr -
2002 shares 2005
Neil 24 Apr £150,000 - - E150,000  £122,500 24 Apr £37,500
Bright 2001 2004
a8 Jul - 101,612 £1.55 - 101,612 30 Apr -
2002 shares 2005

These awards are subject to the qualifying conditions on page 42.
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Executive share options

The share options held by each person who, at any time during the financial year was a Director of the Company, are set

out below.
Number of Number of
options at Original opticns at
Date of 27 Apri exercise 26 April Exercise Granted Exercisable Expiry
grant 2002% price® 2003 price™ in year from date
Executive Directors
Alan Gies 22 Jan 88,676 £1 473,330 18.73p - Now 22 Jan
1999 2008
7 Sept 20,000 £1 106,754 18.73p - Now 7 Sept
2001 201
7 Sept 10,000 £1 53,377 18.73p - 15 May 7 Sept
2001 2004 20N
22 May - - 819,161 £1.67 819,161 22 May 22 May
2002 2005 202
Brian McLaughin 22 Jan 56,963 £1 304,054 18.73p - Now 22 Jan
1999 2009
7 Sept 28,63 £1 153,145 18.73p - Now 7 Sep
2001 201
7 Sept 14,346 £1 76,575 18.73p - 15 May 7 Sept
2001 2004 20N
28 Feb 20,000 £1 106,754 18.73p - Now 26 Feb
2002 2012
26 Feb 10,000 £1 63,377 18.73p - 15 May 26 Feb
2002 2004 2012
22 May - - 819,161 £1.67 819,161 22 May 22 May
2002 2005 2012
Neil Bright 22 Jan 44,610 £1 238,117 18.73p - Now 22 Jan
1999 2009
7 Sept 18,000 £1 96,078 18.73p - Now 7 Sept
2001 20M
7 Sept 9,000 £1 48,039 18.73p 15 May 7 Sept
2001 2004 20M
22 May - - 502,994 £1.67 502,994 22 May 22 May
2002 2005 2012
0] The number of Ordinary Shares under option at 27 Aprit 2002 increased as a result of the bonus issue of 4.33776 Ordinary Shares

for each Ordinary Share held on 8 May 2002 being applied to the Crdinary Shares under option.
0] The opticn price for each share under option at the time of the bonus issue on 8 May 2002 was recalculated from £1t0 18.73p .
{iil) A grant of options under the 2002 Scheme was made on 22 May 2002. Al other grants were made under the 1998 Scheme.
(iv) No share options have been exercised by any of the Directors in the year ended 26 April 2003.

v) No share options have lapsed during the financial year.

{viy The market price of an Ordinary Share as at 26 April 2003 was £1.17. the highest market price for the year being £1.92 and the lowest
market price being £1.02.

(vi)  The cptions are granted pursuant to the terms of the schemes set out on page: 43.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Share Incentive Plan ]
The Executive Directors held the following awards of shares under the Share Incentive Plan as at 26 April 2003:

(@ (i @

9] Partnership Matching Dividend
Free Shares Shares Shares Shares

Alan Giles 120 626 626 &
Brian McLaughiin 120 626 626 6
Neil Bright 120 626 626 6
(i) Free Shares awarded on 17 May 2002 at £1.67 which vest on 17 May 2005.
(i) Partnership Shares purchased by participants on a2 monthly basis at prices between £1.05-£1.43,
(i) Matching Shares awarded on a monthly basis at prices between £1,05-£1.43 which will vest one year after the date of purchase.

()
The Executive Directors have continued 1o acquire Partnership Shares and be awarded Matching Shares on a monthly
basis between 26 April 2003 and 13 June 2003 in accardance with the terms of the Share Incentive Plan.

Service agreements
No Executive Director has a service agreement containing a notice period exceeding one year.

The Remuneration Committee has considered the notice periods and termination arrangements set out below
in the light of the Combined Code and continues to believe they are appropriate for the Executive Directors given their
seniority and value to the Company and the Company's admission 1o trading on the London Stock Exchange.

The Non-Executive Directors do not have service agreements but have been engaged under ‘etters of
appointment all of which are dated 23 April 2002 which are terminable by the Company without liabilty for compensation.
All non-executive appointments are for an initial pericd of three years and can be extended at the election of the Company
for a subsequent period of three years.

The Executive Directors service contracts are summarised below,

Notice Notice

Date of  period from  pericd from

service contract Company individual

Alan Gies 23 April 2002 12 months 12 months
Brian MclLaughin 23 April 2002 2 months 8 months
Neidl Bright 23 April 2002 12 months 12 months

Eric Nicoli and Roy Brown, who are standing for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, have letters of
appointment as Non-Executive Directors. Alan Giles, who is also standing for re-election at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting, has a service agreement, which provides for a notice period of one year.

Compensation for early termination

The arrangements for early termination of an Executive Director’s service agreement are decided by the Remuneration
Committee and wil be made in accordance with the service agreement provisions of each of the Executive Directors.
Each service agreement provides for a payment in leu of notice on early termination to the Executive Director which
shal consist of base salary plus accrued bonus and/or vested deferred bonus to date and the cash equivalent of all
other benefits.

The Remuneration Committee may exercise discretion over unvested share options and/or deferred bonus
entilement in accordance with the rules of the appropriate scheme.

In case of termination in breach of contract by the Company or termination by the Executive Director folowing
material breach of cantract by the Carmpany within one year of a change of contral of the Company, each Executive
Director is entitled to compensation calculated on the same basis as set out above save that, in addition, he shal be
entitled to an amount equal to the annual bonus he would have received for the 12 months after termination calcutated on
the basis of the Group's latest forecasts prior to the date of termination; the immediate vesting of all outstanding deferred
bonus awards, the enhancement of pension arrangements by increasing the Executive Director's pensionable salary by
12 months, the provision of all other benefits to which the Executive Director is entitled for a period of 12 months (or the
finarcial equivalent thereof) and the vesting of any unexercised share options (subject to the rules of the relevant share
option scheme).

If payments for termination are dealt with in accordance with the above provisions the restrictive covenants
contained in each Executive Director's service agreement in favour of the Company will continue to apply.
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Outside directorships

No Executive Director may accept a non-executive directarship without the prior approval of the Board to ensure that
they do not give rise to conflicts of interest. Alan Giles is a non-executive director of Sormerfield ple, Brian McLaughlin
and Nei Bright have no non-executive appointments. Executive Directors may retain the remuneration from

such appointments.

Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration

The Chairman and the Executive Directors determine the remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors for their services
as members of the Board and its Committees in accordance with the Company's Articles of Association. An annual review
takes place in July each year. The policy is to pay fees at a market competitive level in comparison with companies of
broadly similar size in terms of market capitalisation, Currently the Non-Executive Directors receive a basic fee of £30,000
per annum except for Roy Brown who receives a basic fee of £45,000 per annum as the Deputy Chairman and Senior
Independent Non-Executive Director and the Chairman, Eric Nicoli, who receives a basic fee of £110,000 per annum.

David Kappler and Roy Brown each receive an additional £5,000 per annum. for chairing the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee respectively. With effect from 1 May 2003 Roy Brown will alse receive a further £5,000 per
annum for chairing the rustees of the HMV Group Pension Scheme |

The Non-Executive Directors do not participate in any of the incentive or benefit schemes of the Group other than
the provision of staff discount cards.

Sharehclder approval
A resalution to approve the the Remuneration Report is being proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board,

Roy Brown Deputy Chairman
30 June 2003
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Corporate and social responsibility

HMV Group maintains a strong commitment to #s customers, shareholders and employees and recognises that financial
terms should no fonger be the sole measurement of business success. Social, environmental and economic responsibilties
have animportant part to play in the performance of cur operating businesses, and HMV and Waterstone's are committed
to developing ways of integrating these into the fabric of their business activities in order to create long-term benefits for
al stakeholders.

The Group continues to monitor stringently the economic, social and environmental issues that may affect the
business in the future, and has developed strategies to minimise any threat.

The Group complies with best practice ethical codes of conduct, promising to retain its corporate integrity by
remaining free from corruption and not subject to other influences, such as political partes, to which the Group gives
no funding.

The Company has a strong commitment to communicating cpenty and honestly all shareholder and stakeholder
information, both internal and external.

During the year, a range of inidatives were undertaken to enhance the Group's carporate and social responsibiities,
the highlights of which are described in this report.

Social responsthility

The Group is proud of the focal positions held by its two retail brands in the local communities in which they operate.

In Waterstone's, itis the aim of local branches to position themselves at the heart of the local comrmunity through a range
of programmes, and these have included author events, literary festivals, local schools and family days. During the year,
Waterstone's held a number of family days for chidren to meet with authors and children’s characters and to participate
in story teling and other activities. For World Book Day, local schaols were invited to Waterstone's branches to participate
in programmes to promote reading and raise wider awareness of the educational value of books.

HMV continued its support for The Ark Cultural Centre for Children in Temple Bar, Dublin. Dedicated to cultural work
for, by and with chidren aged between three and 14 years. the Ark is an award-winning, custormn-designed centre which
features a 150 seat theatre, a gallery, and a workshop studic. It develops and presents programmes designed to offer
encounters with art and artists of all disciplines, including music, and HMV supported the Centre by funding the production
of s admission tickets,

The Company was an active participant in the Times 100 Case Studies student pack, which aims to raise standards in
education by bringing business thecry to life. The pack was sent free of charge to all 5,600 secondary schools and coleges
in the UK. The Company also supported the BRIT school performing arts college, and the Group's Chief Operating Officer,
Brian McLaughliin, served as a Governor,

HMV maintained its strong commitment to developing new music in local communities in the UK. and launched
the HMV New Music Search to bring to the attention of the wider music industry new and aspiring artists. The scheme
attracted over 600 entries in its first eight weeks, and offered the opportunity for a recording contract with db records,

a Ive appearance at a Barfly concert venue and the chance to have a music track featured on an HMV Playfist CD sampler
of new music.

Charities

HMV continued its long-standing support for Nordoff-Robhins Music Therapy. The charity aims to bring hope and healing
into the lives of disabled and traumatised children and adults by using music as therapy for a varied range of needs,
including learning and physical disabilties and traurna. The Centre helps a number of adults with chronic iinesses, learning
disabilities, and emotional or neurological problems. HMV has supported Nordoff-Robbins through various fundraising
activittes, including sponsorship of a Siver Clef Award and, since 1998, the annual HMV Footbal Extravaganza, which has
raised approximately £2 milion. In 2003, HMV raised £400,000 for Nordoff-Robbins.

Health and safety

The Group's retail chains have created and implemented systems and procedures for the management of health and
safety in its stores and the workplace. These initiatives are designed to comply with the statutory requirements of each
country in which the Group operates, and in some cases may exceed those requirements. A comprehensive health and

safety audit was carried out in all Waterstone's branches. Compliance levels exceeded the Waterstone's Board's target
for the year.

Employees

HMV UK launched an Academy programme with the aim of optimising the potential of its sales assistants.

140 employaes completed the programme in the period. In the first few months of the new financial year, the HMV
Management Diploma was launched in conjunction with Ashridge Management Colege, a Elropean leader in managerment
developrnent. Run over a three-year period, the programme, which leads to a formal qualffication, aims to recognise and
further develop key HMV store managers and high potential non-store managers. The Group's businesses also conduct,

at regular intervals, attitude surveys of their employees.

Environment

Afthough retaiing operations are perceived to have had low environmental impact, HMV Group recognises the fundamental
environmental issues facing the business warld and the importance of working to reduce such impacts and endeavours

to compty with all refevant environmental legislation in each of the territories in which it operates. The Group seeks to uphoid

and implemenr best practice and works to premote effective resource management, including recycling and responsible
waste disposal,
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Directors’ report

The Directors submit their annual report and audited financiat staterments for the 52 weeks ended 26 April 2003,
which were approved on behalf of the Board on 30 June 2003,

Review of the Group

The principal activity of the Group is the retailing of books, recorded music, pre-recorded videos and electronic games.
The retaiing of books is principally carried out under the Waterstone's brand and the retailing of music, videos and games
under the HMV brand. The Group has operations in ten countries, with the principal markets being those of the UK, Japan
and Canada. The Chief Executive's report, Operating review and Financial review on pages 20 to 35 contain details of the
principal operations of the Group during the year and likely future developments.

Results and dividends

The consolidated profit for the financial year after deducting taxation amounted to £47.0 milion (2002: £30.7 milion).
The Board of Directors recommends a final dividend of 3.4p per Ordinary Share which, together with the interim dividend
of 1.1p already declared, makes a total for the year of 4.5p per Ordinary Share (2002: nil). Subject to approval at the
Annual General Meeting the final dividend will be paid on 9 October 2003 to those shareholders whose names are

on the register on 18 September 2003. Retained profit for the year of £13.6 milion (2002: loss £12.3 milion) has been
ransferred to reserves.

Directors

The present Directors of the Company are listed, together with their biographical details on pages 36 and 37, all served
as Directors throughout the year, The Company is satisfied that each Non-Executive Director is able to devote the amount
of time required te attend to the Company's affairs.

The Company’s Articles of Association require one third of the Directors to retire by rotation each year at the
Annuat General Meeting, such that each Director offers himself or herself for re-election at least once every three years.
Accordingly, Eric Nicol, Roy Brown and Alan Giles wil retire by rotation and wil offer themselves for re-election at this year's
Annual General Meeting.

The interests of the Directors in the shares of the Company, together with their remuneration and, where applicable,
summaries of their service agreements, are detailed in the Directors’ remuneration report on pages 41to 49.

Nao Director at any time during the 52 weeks ended 26 Aprl 2003 had any material interest in any contracts with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries cther than the Executive Directors, who had such an interest through their service
agreerments with the Company, details of which are summarised on page 48, and Eric Nicoli who had such an interest
through his position as Chairman of EMI Group plc, a major supplier of the Group.

None of the Directors at any time during the 52 weeks ended 26 April 2003 or subsequently was interested in
any debentures of the Company or shares or debentures of the Company's subsidiaries.

Principal shareholders
As at 30 June 2003 the Company had been notified of the following interests in its Ordinary Shares in accordance with
Sections 198-208 of the Companies Act 1985:

Percentage

Number of of issued

Ordinary share

Name Shares capital
ISIS Asset Management 36,687,065 910
Advent International Corporation 31,761,529 7.88
Prudential plc 23,537,670 583
Standard Life Investments Limited 20,559,232 510
Invesco Perpetual Asset Management 20,386,837 505
HBOS plc 19.849,203 492
Legal & General Investment Management Limited 15,707,442 3.89

Policy on payment of creditors

The Group does not impose standard payment terms on its suppliers but agrees specific terms with each and ensures
that each supplier is made aware of such terms. It is the Group's policy to pay its suppliers in accordance with the terms
that have been agreed. The Company is a holding company and therefore has no trade credfitors.
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Directors report continued

Empioyee Policies

The Group is a decentralised organisation with the aim of employing and developing the best people, putting therm in the
right positions with a significant leve! of delegated authority and responsibilty, and supporting them with the infrastructure
and technology required to perform at the highest levels and at the lowest costs with the quickest response time.

Responsibiity for employment matters therefore rests primariy with each business operation under the general
guidance of central policy and procedure guidelines. The Group companies are committed to the maintenance of a work
environment free of discrimination on the grounds of gender, nationality, ethnic or racial origin, non-job refated disabilty,
sexual orientation or marital status.

The Group gives ful consideration to applications from disabled persons where the requirements of the job can be
adequately fuffiled by a disabled person. Where existing employees become disabled, it is the Group’s policy, wherever
practicable, 1o provide continuing employment under normal terms and conditions and to provide training, career
development and promotion to disabled employees wherever appropriate.

In order to promote employee fvolvement in the Group, regular meetings are held between local management
and employees to allow a free flow of infformation and ideas.

The Company encourages staff involvement in the Group's performance via a combination of employee bonus and
share scheimes. The Group has established a Share Incentive Plan ("SIP"} details of which are set out on page 43 in which
nearly all the Group's employees are entitled to participate provided they meet certain service conditions.

Share capital
Detais of the new Ordinary Shares issued pursuant to the exercise of options under the Company’s share option schemes
are set out in Note 25.

Resolutions will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting to give the Directors authority to allot shares, dis-apply
pre-emption rights in limited circumstances and for the Company to purchase its own shares. Fult details of the business
of the Annual General Meeting, with explanatory notes, appear in the Chairman’s Letter and Notice of Meeting which
accompany this Report.

The Company has a current authority (granted at the Annual General Meeting held on 1 October 2002 and which
shall expire at the conclusion of the Annual Generat Meeting to be held on 29 September 2003} to make market
purchases up to a maximum of 40,320,304 Ordinary Shares of £0.01 each, subject 1o certain kmitations.

Charitable contributions
The Group made charitable donations of £16,000 in the period (2002: £9,000). Itis Group polcy not to make donations
to political parties and therefore no poltical donations were made during the period.

The Company is seeking authority at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting to make poltical donations (although
it has no intention of doing so) in order 1o prevent an inadvertent breach of the Poltical Parties, Elections and Referendums
Act 2000 as set out in the Chairman’s Letter and Notice of Meeting that accompany this Report.

Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP has indicated its wilingness to continue in office and a resolution re-appointing it as the Company's
auditor and authorising the Directors to determine its remuneration will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting will be held at 2.30 pm cn 29 September 2003 at The Lincoln Centre, 18, Lincoln's Inn Fields,
London, WC2A 3ED.

On behalf of the Board, "
6\} . g L:J [

Nell Bright Group Finance Director
30 June 2003
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of HMV Group plc

We have audited the Group's financial stalements for the 52 week period ended 26 Aprl 2003 which comprise the
Consoliclated Profit and Less Account, Consdlidated Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses, Reconciiation
of Consolidated Shareholders' Funds, Consolidated Balance Sheet, Company Balance Sheet, Consdlidated Cash Flow
Statement and the related notes 1 to 30, These financial stalements have been prepared on the basis of the accounting
policies set out therein. We have also audited the information in the Orectors” Remuneration Report thatis described as
having been audited.

This repert is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, In accordance with Section 235 of the
Compariies Act 1985, Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by
lawy, we do not accept or assume any responsiblity to anyone other then the Company and the Company's mermbers as
a body, for our audit work, for this repart, or for the opinions wa have formed,

Respective responsibiliies of Directors and auditors

The Directors’ responsitiities for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors” Remuneration Report and the financial
statemants in accordance with appicatie United Kingdom law and accounting standards are set out in the Statement
of Directors’ Responsiblities.

Our responsibity is to audit the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be:
audited in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements, United Kingdom Auditing Standards and the Listing
Rules of the Financial Services Authority.

We report to you our opinion as to whather the linancial statements give a true and fair view and whether the
financial statements and the part of the Drectors’ Rermuneration Report to be audited are properly prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 1885, We also report 1o you 1, in aur opinion, the Directors’ Report is riot consistent
with the financial statements, if the Company has not kept proper accountng records, if we have not received all the:
information and explanations we require for our audit. or f information specified by taw or the Listing Rules regarding
directors’ remuneration and transactions with the Group is not disclosed.

We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects the Company's compliance with the seven
provisions of the Combined Code specified for our review by the Usting Rules, and we report if it dees not. We are not
required to consider whether the Board's staterments on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's Corporate Governance proceduras or it risk and contral procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether itis consistent with the audited
financial staterments. This other information comprises the Chairman's Statement, Chief Executive’s Statement,

Review of Operations. Financial Review, Corporate Governance Statement, Remuneration Report and Directors’ Report.
We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistancies
with the financial statements. Our responsibilities do net extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with United Kingdom Auditing Standards issued by the Auditing Practices Board,
An auditincludes exanination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disciosures in the financial
staternents and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audied. It also includes an assessment of the
significant estimates and judgerments macde by the Directors in the preparation of the financial staterments, and of whether
the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group's circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our audil so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are
free from material misstaternent, whether caused by fraud or other rregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also
evaluated the overal adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited.

Ogpinion

Iy QU QRINIoN

+ The financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 26 April
2003 and of the profit of the Group for the period then ended; and

« The financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared

in accorda ce/with the Campanies Act 1985.
Mn Y i Ll-ﬁ

Ernst & Young LLP Régistered Auditor
London
30 June 2003
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Consolidated profit and loss account

for the period’ ended:

52 weeks ended 26 April 2003

52 weeks ended 27 April 2002

After Before Before After
exceptional  Exceptional  exceptional  exceptional  Exceptional  exceptional
items tems® tems ttems tems temns
Notes £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Turnover 1 1,707,684 - 1707684 1,654,476 - 1654476
Cost of sales (1.492,681) - {1,492,681) (1,454,416) - (1.454,418)
Gross profit 215,003 - 215,003 200,060 - 200,060
Administrative expenses (96,188) - (96,188) (94,418) - (94,418}
Other operating expenses (460} - {460) (65) (6,033) (6,098)
Group operating profit 1&2 118,355 - 18,355 105,577 (8,033) 99,544
Profit on disposal of investment n - - - - 996 996
Profit on ordinary activities pefore interest 118,355 - 118,355 105,577 (5037) 100,540
Finance charges 3] (58,464) (36,325) (22.139) (51,945} - {51,945)
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 59,891 (36,325) 96,216 53,632 (5,037} 48,595
Taxation on profit on ordinary activities a8 {12,865} 10,858 (23,763) (18,232) 300 (17,932)
Profit attributable to members of the
halding company 47,026 (25,427) 72,453 35,400 (4,737} 30,663
Dividends on Equity Shares 9 (18,148) - (18,148} - - -
Redemption premium on Non-Eqguity
Junior Preference Shares 10 .777) - (1,777) (31.812) - {31.812)
Preference dividends and redemption
premiurm on Non-Equity
Senior Preference Shares 10 (13,526) (11,582} {1.944) (11.154) - (11.154)
Senior Preference Shares dividend arrears (36,648) (36,648} - - - -
Appropriated in previous years 36,648 36,648 - w - -
Transfer to (from) profit and loss reserve 29 13,575 (37.009) 50,684 {7.566) (4.737) (12,303)
Earnings per share - basic 7 7.9p 9:2)p 17.1p (12.7p (8.0)p (20.7)p
Earnings per share - diluted 7 7.8p {91)p 16.9p (127p (8.0)p (20.7)p

See Accounting Paolicies on pages 52 and 60 for the description of the 2003 and 2002 reporting periods.
Full details of the exceptional items are given in Note 1.

1
2
3 All results refate to continuing activities.
4

There is no difference between the results stated above and their historical cost equivalents.
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Statement of total recognised gains and losses
for the period’ ended:

2003 2003 2002 2002

£000 £000 £000 £000
Profit for the period 47,026 30,663
Currency retranslation 2,208 1.035
Net exchange (losses) gains on
foreign currency borrowings and Senior Preference Shares (5.017) 244
Tax on exchange differences 180 222
Cther recegnised gains and losses (2.619) 1,501
Total recognised gains and losses relating to the period 44,407 32,164
Reconciliation of movements in shareholders’ funds
for the period' ended:

2003 2002
£000 £000

Profit for the period 47,026 30,663
Ordinary dividend (18,148) -
Preference dividend on Non-Equity Shares (50.174) -
Other recognised gains and losses (2,619) 1.501
Proceeds of issue of Equity Shares 374,99 -
Costs of share issue written off to share premium account (17,996) -
Redemption of Senior Preference Shares (49,992) -
Creation of capital reserve 226 -
Increase in goodwil on acquisition - (25,000)
Net increase in shareholders’ funds for the period 283,314 7,164
Opening shareholders’ funds (416,008) {423,172}
Closing shareholders’ funds (132,694) (418,008}

1 See Accounting Policies on pages 59 andg 60 for the description of the 2003 and 2002 reporting periods.
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Balance sheets

at period end:

Group Group Company Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
Notes £000 £000 £000 £000
Fixed assets
Intangible assets 12 2,000 - - -
Tangible assets 13 148,074 142,319 249 479
Investment: own shares 14 - 909 - -
Investments: subsidiaries 15 - - 669468 654,962
150,074 143,228 669,717 655,441
Current assets
Stocks 16 156,600 168,279 - -
Debtors: amounts fafing due within one year 17 52.474 58,082 263,041 359,695
Debtors: amounts faling due after more than one year 17 16,037 B,075 109 -
Debtors 17 68,51 66,157 263,150 359,695
Investments and short-term deposits 20 18356 1,151 - -
Cash at bank and in hand 20 102,756 77,255 48,663 21,246
329,702 312,842 31,813 380.941
Creditors: amounts faling due within one year
Bomrowings 18 (36,241 (49,787) (23,084) (34.147)
Other credftors 21 (343,480) (387,874) (358.860) (473,932)
(379,731} (437.661) (381,944) (508,073)
Net current liabiities (50,029) (124.819) (70131} (127132)
Total assets less current liabilties 100,045 18,409 599,586 528,309
Creditors: amounts faling due after more than one year
Borrowings 18  (220,543) (419,312) (220,543) (419,312)
Other creditors 22 (590) {72) (500) ~
(221,133)  (419,384) (221,043)  (418,312)
Provisions for liabilties and charges
QOther provisions 24 (M.6086) (15,033} - -
(132,694) (416,008) 378,543 108,997
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 25 4,033 1,848 4,033 1.848
Share premium account 29 308,249 3431 308,249 3,431
Profit and loss account {ncluding goodwil previously written off) 29  (445,202) (421,287) 66,035 103,718
Capial reserve 226 - 226 -
Equity shareholders’ funds (132,684) (777,633) 378,543 (252,628
Non-equity shareholders’ funds 10 - 361,625 - 361,625
Total shareholders' funds {132,694} (416,008) 378,543 108,957

The financial statements on pages 54 to 84 were approved by the Board of Directors on 30 June 2003 and were signed

N

onits behalf by:

Alan Giles Chief Executive
Neil Bright Group Finance Director

V\;&
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Consolidated cash flow statement

for the period’ ended:;

2003 2002
Naotes £000 £000
Net cash inflow from operating activities 180,631 180,102
Returns on investrments and servicing of finance
Interest received 4,872 783
Interest paid (40,604) (46,721)
Exceptional finance charges paid 1 (26,587) -
Costs incurred in connection with the raising of debt (8,425) (3,50M)
Non-equity dividends/redemption premiums paid to shareholders (55,937) -
Net cash ocutflow from returns on investments and servicing of finance (126,681) {49,439
Tax paid (18,355) {5.214)
Capital expenditure and financial investment
Purchase of tangible fixed assets 13 (48,972) (23,501
Purchase of intangible fixed assets 12 (1.000) -
Disposal of tangible fixed assets 456 300
Purchase of investment in own shares 4 - (32)
Net cash outflow from capitat expenditure (49,516) (23,233)
Acquisitions and disposais
Settlement of deferred consideration 27 (50,000 -
Sale of nvestment 1 - 996
Net cash (outflow) inflow from acguisitions and disposals {50,000} 996
Equity dividends paid to shareholders (4,436) -
Net cash (outflow) inflow befare management of liquid resources and financing (66,357) 103,212
Management of liquid resources 20 (795) 2,868
Financing
New loans/movements in short-term faciities 276,763 (16,230
Loan repayments (266,984) (30,381)
Proceeds of ssue of Equity Shares (net of expenses) 356,996 -
Redemption of Senior Preference Shares (49,992) -
Tender of Senior Subordinated Notes (220,616) -
Net cash inflow (outflow} from financing 96,167 (46,611)
Net cash inflow {outflow) from management of liquid resources and financing 95,372 (43,743}
Increase in cash in the period 20 29,015 59,469

1 See Accounting Policies on pages 59 and 60 for the description of the 2003 and 2002 reparting periods.
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Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash flow from operating activities

for the period’ ended:

2003 2002
Notes £000 £000
Group operating profit 1 18,355 99,544
Depreciatior charge 13 42,217 39,5286
Amounts provided in respect of flotation costs n - 6,033
Cash flow in respect of flotation costs {3.138) (2175)
Loss (profit) on disposal of fixed assets 476 62)
Amounts charged in respect of provisions 24 3.897 -
Amounts utilised in respect of provisions (7.367) (7.467)
(Increase) decrease in working capital:
Stock 11,000 15,992
Debtors 949 (2,990)
Creditors 14,242 31,70
Net cash inflow from operating activities 180,631 180,102

1 See Accounting Polcies on pages 59 and 60 fer the description of the 2003 and 2002 reporting periods.
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Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The consolidated accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries are made up to the Saturday immediately preceding

30 April each year. Consequently, the financial statements for the current perted cover the 52 weeks ended 26 Apri 2003,
whilst the comparative period covered the 52 weeks ended 27 Aprl 2002. The consolidated accounts are prepared under

the historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable accounting standards and specifically in accordance with
the following accounting policies.

Basis of consolidation

The consoidated accounts comprise the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. The comparative results of all
subsidiaries were taken from their accounts made up to or about 26 April 2003. The results of subsidiaries acquired during
a period are included from the date that effective control passed.

Turnover

Turnover represents the value of goods and services supplied, less discounts given. Turnover excludes value added tax
{("VAT"} and similar sales-related taxes.

Goaodwil
Goodwil arising on acquisitions prior to 25 April 1998 was set off directly against reserves. Goodwil previously eliminated
against reserves has not been reinstated on implementation of FRS 10 "Goodwil and Intangible Assets”.

Positive goodwit arising on acquisitions since 25 April 1998 is capitalised, classified as an asset on the balance sheet
and ameortised on a straight-ine basis over its useful econormic ffe up to a presumed maximum of 20 years. Itis reviewed
for impairment at the end of the first full financial year folowing the acquisition and in other periods if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying valie may not be recoverable.

If & subsidiary, associate or business is subsequently sold or closed, any goodwill arising on acquisition that was set
off directly against reserves or that has not been amortised through the profit and loss account is taken into account in
determining the profit or loss on sale or closure.

Intangible assets

intangible assets are valued at cost and amortised over their useful fife up to a presumed maximum of 20 years, unless the
asset can be demonstrated to have an indefinite ife. Assets amortised over 20 years or less are reviewed for impairment
at the end of the first full financial year following the acquisition and in other periods f events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Non-amastisation is supported by an annual impairment review.

Foreign currencies

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded at the rates of exchange ruling at the date of the
transactions, Monetary assets and flabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated into sterling either at period
end rates or, where there are related foreign exchange contracts, at contract rates. The resulting foreign exchange
differences are dealt with in the determination of profit (loss) for the period.

On consclidation, average exchange rates have been used to transiate the results of overseas companies and
businesses, and the assets and liahilties of overseas companies and businesses are translated into sterling at period
end rates.

Exchange differences are dealt with as a movement in reserves where they arise from the translation of the opening
net assets of overseas operations, the retranslation of retained earnings of overseas operations from average to closing
rates of exchange and the translation or canversion of foreign currency borrowings taken to hedge overseas assets.

In addition. exchange differences arising on the retranslation of goodwil at historic rates are also taken to Group reserves,

Advertising costs
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred.

teased assets

In respect of property operating leases, benefits received and receivable as an incentive te sign a lease are spread on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the period to the date of the first rent review. Al other operating
lease payrments are charged directly to the profit and ioss account in the financial period to which the payments relate.
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Accounting policies continued

Tangible fixed assets
The capitalised cost of tangible fixed assets includes only those costs that are directly attributable to bringing an asset to
its working condition for its intended use.

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets is caleulated on cost, at rates estimated to write off the cost less the estimated
residual vaiue of the relevant assets by equal annual amounts over their estimated useful ives.

The annual rates used are:
Short-term leasehold property Period of the lease
Plant, equipment and vehicles 10to 33%%

The carrying values of tangible fixed assets are reviewed for material impairment in periods if events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable,

Stocks

Stocks, which represent finished goods and goods for resale, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value
on a first-in, first-out basis.

Deferred taxation
The charge for taxation is based on the profits for the period and takes into account taxation deferred because of timing
differences between the reatment of certain iterns for taxation and accounting purposes.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance
sheet date where transactions or events that result in an obiigation to pay more, or a right 1o pay less, tax in the future have
occurred at the balance sheet date. Deferred tax assets are recognised only Lo the extent that it is more likely than not that
there wil be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences can be deducted.

Pension costs
The Company operates both defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes.

For the defined benefit schemes pension costs are charged to the profit and loss account so as to spread the
cost of the pensions over the working lives of the employees. Valuation surpluses or deficits are amortised over the
expected remaining working life withirs the Group of the relevant employees (estimated to be eight years in respect
of the United Kingdom). The amortisation of valuation surpluses is restricted to an arnount equal to the regular pension
cost Accordingly, employee expense in respect of the EMI Group scheme, which covers certain employees in the
United Kingdom, has been taken as £ni for both the current and prior periods for reasons of conservatism.

For the defined contribution schemes, contributions are charged in the profit and loss account as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the scheme.,

Derivative instruments
The Group may from time to time use derivative instruments for hedging purposes, including cross-currency swaps.
forward foreign exchange contracts, foreign currency options and interest rate contracts.

A financial derivative is considered to be a "hedge” by the Group when it alters the risk profile of an existing
underlying exposure of the Group in ine with the risk management polices of the Group.

Interest differentials on dervative instrurnents are recognised by adjusting net interest payable. Premiums or
discounts arising on derivative instruments are amaortised over the e of the instrument.

Forward rate agreements, currency swap agreements and forward foreigh exchange contracts are valued at the
contract rate in respect of their ongoing carrying vaiue in the financial staterments and at closing market rates of exchange
for market valuation. The fair value of options is based on market prices at the year end.

The Group generally does not hedge translation exposure of overseas earnings or net assets, although the Group
may implement short-term hedges to secure short-term financial objectives.

The underlying asset or liabilty associated with the financial instrument is valued at the rate implicit in the instrument.

Capital instruments
Shares are included in shareholders’ funds. Other instruments are classified as liablities ¥ they contain an obligation to
transfer economic bhenefits and if not they are included in sharehaolders’ funds. The finance cost recognised in the profit

and loss account in respect of capital instruments other than Equity Shares is allocated to periods over the term of the
instrument at a constant rate on the carrying amount.
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Notes to the financial statements

1. Segmental analyses

2003 2002
Operating Average Operating Average
Turnover profit employees Turnover proft employees
£000 £00Q Number £000 £000 Number
By class of business:
HMV!
Europe 867,384 88,552 4,522 784.3N 74,008 4,235
Asia Pacific 277.016 9,328 1,726 275,722 8,323 1,682
North America 157,055 (3,492) 2228 187,086 1.018 2716
Total HMV 1,301,455 94,388 8,476 1,247179 83,349 8,633
Waterstone's? 406,229 23,987 4,445 407,297 22,228 4,574
Total 1,707,684 118,355 12,921 1,654,476 105,577 13,207
Operating exceptional tems - {6,033)
Operating profit 118,355 99,644
By origin:
United Kingdom 1,203,085 104,906 8,463 1,124,466 87,933 8.293
Rest of Europe 70,528 1613 504 67,202 8,303 516
Asia Pacffic 277,016 9,328 1726 275,722 8,323 1,682
North America 157,055 (3,492} 2,228 187,086 1018 2,716
Total 1,707,684 118,355 12,921 1,654,476 105,577 13,207
Operating exceptional tems - (6,033)
Operating profit 118,355 99,544

Turnover analysed by destination is not materially different from turnover analysed by origin.
Turnover excludes transactions made between comparies within the Group.
in 2002 operating exceptional items arose in the UK and reflected professional fees and related costs incurred in

respect of the Group's Listing on the London Stock Exchange on 15 May 2002.

1 HMV is the music and video retaling division which trades under the HMV brand.

2 waterstone's is the book retaiing division of HMV Group, primarily trading under the Waterstone's brand.
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Notes 1o the financial statements continued

1. Segmental analyses (continued)

Operating assets {abilties) Total assets
2003 2002 2003 2002
£000 £000 £000 £000
By class of business:
HMV
Europe (58.749) (48,736} 162,381 150,067
Asia Pacific 22197 26,105 108,974 05,742
North America (8,613} (6.308) 27,766 29,763
Total HMV (4585} {29.539) 299121 275,572
Waterstone's 71,879 69,093 180,655 180,498
Total 26,714 39,554 479,776 456,070
By geographical area:
United Kingdom 13,972 9.562 325,257 312,340
Rest of Europe (842) 10,795 17,779 18.225
Asia Pacific 22197 26,105 108,974 95,742
North America (8.613} (6.908) 27,766 29,763
Total 26,714 39,554 479,776 456,070
Total assets comprise fixed assets and current assets.
The reconcliation of operating assets to net fiabilties is as follows:
2003 2002
Note £000 £000
Operating assets 26,714 39,554
Non operating assets (fabilties) 14,616 (36.5286)
Taxation, net interest and dividends payable (21.831) (28,343)
Capital employed 19,499 (25,315)
Net borrowings 20 (152,193} (390,693}
Net liabiities (132,694) (416,008}
Capital expenditure and depreciation by class of business are as folows:
Capital expenditure Depreciation
2003 2002 2003 2002
£000 £000 £000 £000
HMV
Europe 25,536 14,392 21038 17.834
Asia Pacific 7,299 3,498 5,205 6,451
Nc;rth Armerica 3.835 1,220 2,404 2,704
Total HMV 36,670 18,110 29,647 26,989
Waterstone's 12,302 4,391 12,570 12,537
Total 48,972 23,501 42,217 39,526
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2. Operating profit

2003 2002
£000 £000
Operating profit is stated after charging:
Bepreciation of tangible fixed assets 42,217 39,526
Operating lease rentals
Property -~ Minimum rentals (i} 107,452 102,882
- Percentage rentals () 13,471 14,342
120,923 17,224
Plant, equipment and vehicles T2 132
i HMV Group leases stores under non-cancellable operating lease agreements that are generaly subject to periodic rent review.
These agreements provide for either or both minimum rentals and percentage rentais based on sales performance.
3. Fees to auditors
2003 2002
£0Q0 £000
Charged to operating profit:
Audtt fees 367 260
Non-audit fees for UK Group entities 95 746
462 1,006

Non-audit fees relate 1o tax planning, tax advice and the audit of pension schemes. In addition, fees of £1.0 milion were

charged to the share premium account in connection with the Company’s flotation on 15 May 2002,

4, Directors’ emoluments

Full details of Directors’ remuneration and interests are set out in the Directors' remuneration report on pages 411to 49.

5. Employees costs

2003 2002
£000 £000

Employee costs, including Directors’ emoluments:
Wages and salaries 186,344 183,100
Social security costs 13,308 15,169
Other pension costs (see Note 28) 2,61 2,442
202,263 200,

The average monthly number of employees during the pericd is disclosed in Note 1.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

€. Finance charges

2003 2002
£000 £000

Interast payable on:
Bank loans and overdrafts 20,408 25,367
Other loans 805 24,924
Amortisation of deferred financing fees 2,052 3.012
Notional interest relating to discount on provisions 759 1180
23,824 54,483
Bank interest receivable (1.685) (2.538)
Total net interest payable 22139 51,945
Exceptional finance charges 36,325 -
Total finance charges 58,464 51,945

Included within the total net interest payable are net non-cash charges totaling £2.2 milion (2002: £3.6 milion). These

include the amaortisation of deferred financing fees and the notional interest in respect of discount on provisions as

disclosed above, and within interest payable on other loans, £0.6 milion (2002: £0.6 milion unrealised) relating to a realised
exchange gain on the US dollar Notes, Also included within the total net interest payable is a £1.4 milion cost of canceling

£70 milion of interest rate swaps, further details of which are given in the Financial Review.
Further details of the excepticnal finance charges are given in Note 11.

7. Earnings per share

2003 2002
£000 £000
Proft attributable to members of the holding compary 47,026 30,663
Less: redemption premium and preference dividends charged to profit and loss account (15,303) (42,966)
Basic and diluted profit (foss) 31,723 (12,303)
Excepticnal tems, less tax thereon 37,009 4,737
Adjusted basic and diluted profit (loss) 68,732 {7,566)
2003 2002
Number Number

‘000 ‘000
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares 402,781 59,388
Diutive share options 3.055 -
Weighted average nurmber of Ordinary Shares - Diuted 405,836 59.388
Earnings per Crdinary Share is calculated as folows:

2003 2003 2002 2002
Basic Diluted Basic Diuted
Pence Pence Pence Pence

Profit foss) per Ordinary Share 7.9 7.8 (20.1) (20.7
Exceptional items, less tax credit therean 9.2 9.1 80 8.0
Adjusted profit (loss) per Ordinary Share 17.1 16.9 (12.7) {12.7)

The adjusted earnings per Crdinary Share is shown in order to highlight the underlying performance of the Group.

The weighted average number of shares excludes shares held by an Employee Benefit Trust as an investrnent in own
shares and has been adjusted for the issue of shares during the period. The diuted earnings per share calcuiations reflect
the weighted average diutive effect of options outstanding during the year of 3,054,775. The weighted average number
of Ordinary Shares in the prior year periods has been adjusted to reflect the bonus issue, which took place on 8 May 2002,
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8. Taxation
2003 2002
After After
excepional  exceptional
tems tems
£000 £000
Taxation on profit on ordinary activities:
United Kingdom, current year:
Corporation tax 18,454 17,754
Double taxation relief (2.519) (1.300)
Qver provision in pricr periods {3.434) -
12,501 16,454
Overseas tax, current year 4,189 2,698
Overseas tax under provided in prior periods 564 31
Fotal current tax 17,254 19,183
Deferred tax:
United Kingdom 1,654 (1,286)
Overseas (6.043) 35
Total defemred tax {4,389} (1,257
Taxation on profit on ordinary activities 12,865 17,932
The operating exceptionat items charged in the financiat period generated a tax credit of £10.9 milion
{2002: £0.3 milion}.
The current tax charge is reconciied with the standard rate of UK corporation tax as follows:
2603 2002
£0C0 £000
Profit before taxation 59,891 48,585
Corporation tax at UK statutory rate of 30% 17,967 14,578
Effects of:
Permanent differences on exceptional items - 1,212
Permanent disallowables (including overseas income taxed at different rates) a0 1.348
Fair value and goodwill adjustments (588) (1.483)
Tax losses brought forward from earfier periods (311) (299)
Tax losses for the period not utiised 2,366 3,058
Timing differences 630 738
Prior period (over) under provision (2,.870) 31
Total curent tax charge 17.254 19,183

Key factors affecting the tax charge are:

] The tax charge is increased by tax losses generated in overseas territories which are not fully utlised and in respect

of which no deferred tax asset is recognised.
(i) The deferred tax asset on the balance sheet is largely in respect of UK and Japanese timing differences.

A deferred tax asset has been recognised for the first time in respect of Japan reflecting the expectation that
taxable profits wil be avaiable against which future tax relief can be offset. The credit to the proft and loss account

has reduced the tax charge in 2003 by £6.0 milion
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9. Equity dividends

2003 2002
ECOO £000

Equity - Ordinary
Interim - paid: 1.1p (2002: nil) per 1p share 4,436 -
Final - proposed: 3.4p (2002: nil) per 1p share 13,712 -
18,148 -

10. Redemption premium and preference dividends
In accordance with the provisions of FRS 4 "Capital Instrurments”, the Company has charged to the profit and loss account
dividends and redemption premiunz in respect of its Senior and Junior Preference Shares on the basis described below.
The Company’s Junior Preference Shares were converted on 15 May 2002 to a total of 145,815,137 new Ordinary
Shares, The rate of conversion reflected the benefit to the Junior Preference shareholders of a 13.0% per annum
redemption premium from issue. Prior to conversion a further redemption premium of £1.8 million was charged in the
period and, as permitted by FRS 4, credited back to the profit and loss account reserve.
The Company's Senior Preference Shares were redeemed in full on 28 June 2002, A non-equity dividend of
£1.9 milion was charged for the period to 28 June 2002, adding 1o the cumulative dividend arrears of £36.6 million
as at 27 Aprit 2002. These amounts were settled in ful, together with a redemption premium of £11.6 milion.

11. Exceptional items

Operating exceptional tems %888 éggtz)
Flotation costs - other operating expenses - (68,033}
Exceptional finance charges Eggg gggg
Tender for Senior Subordinated Notes (25,593) -
Refated professional fees (995) -
Write off of deferred financing fees (9,737} -

(36.325) -

Exceptional finance charges arose on the tender for the Senior Supordinated Notes and the refinancing of the Group.
A tax credit of £10.9 million arose in respect of these costs.

In addition, a redemption premium of £11.6 milion was charged to the profit and loss account on the redemption of
the Senior Preference Shares on 28 June 2002 and further share issue costs of £18.0 milion have been charged directly
to the share premium account.

The operating exceptionat item for the 52 weeks ended 27 April 2002 represents flotation fees and expenses of
£6.0 milion incurred in respect of the initial public offer of HMVY Group ple on 15 May 2002. A tax credit of £0.3 milion arose
in respect of these costs.

. ) . 2003 2002
Non-operating exceptional iterms £000 £Q00
Profit on disposal of investment - 996

The non-operating exceptional credit in the prior pericd related to a gain on the disposal of the Group's remaining
investment in Daisy & Tom Limited (now known as Chelsea Stores Limited).
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12. Intangible fixed assets

Trademarks
Group £000
Cost at 27 April 2002 -
Additicns 2,000
Cost at 26 April 2003 2,000
Amortisation at 26 April 2003 and 27 April 2002 -
Net book value at 26 April 2003 2,000

Net book valie at 27 Apnl 2002

The Company had no intangible fixed assets.

On 8 May 2002, HMV (IP) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of HMV Group ple acquired, canditional upon flotation,
various trademark registrations and applications for the acronym "HMV" and the dog and trumpet trademark from EMI for
a consideration of £2.0 milion, £1.0 milion of which was settled in the period. These trademarks are considered to have an

indefinite life, therefore no amortisation has been charged.

13. Tangible fixed assets

Short Flant,
leasehold equipment
Group Pooos " “Ro0o 000
Cost at 27 Aprit 2002 1,332 276,838 288170
Currency retranslation (821) (1.421) (2,242)
Disposals - (31,939} (31,939)
Additions 1,086 47,886 48,972
Cost at 26 April 2003 11,597 291,364 302,961
Depreciation at 27 Aprl 2002 7.410 138,441 145,851
Currency retranslation (849} (1,325) (2174)
Charge for year 783 41,464 42,217
Disposals - (31,007) (31,007
Depreciation at 26 Aprit 2003 7,314 147,573 154,887
Net book value at 26 Aprit 2003 4,283 143,79 148,074
Net book value at 27 April 2002 3,922 138,397 142,319
Short ‘ Plant,
oropetty  and venioes Total
Company £000 £0C0 £000
Cost at 27 April 2002 - 3,053 3.053
Disposals - (B6) 66)
Additions - 62 62
Cost at 26 April 2003 - 3.049 3.049
Depreciation at 27 April 2002 - 2,574 2574
Charge for year - 263 263
Disposals - (37) (37}
Depreciation at 26 Apri 2003 2,800 2,800
Net book value at 26 April 2003 - 249 249
Net bock value at 27 April 2002 - 479 479
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14. investment: own shares

Accumulated Net
Cost  amortisaton book value
£000 £000 £000

Ordinary Shares
Balance at 27 Aprit 2002 Q09 - 509
Transferred (638) - (638)
Provided during the year - 27 (271)
Balance at 26 Aprl 2003 271 271 -

The investrment in own shares represents the Company's shares held by an Employee Benefit Trust ("The Trust”)
for subsequent transfer to employees under the deferred bonus element of the Senior Executives HIP scheme.
Details of the HIP scheme are provided in the Directors’ remuneration report on page 42.

At 26 April 2003 the Trust held 421,563 shares with a nominal value of £4,200 and a market value of £0.5 milion.
At 27 April 2002 the Trust held 272,783 old Ordinary Shares and 313,632 Junior Preference Shares. A fundamental
restructuring of the Company’s share capital preceded the flotation of the Company's new Ordinary Shares on 15 May
2002, This included a bonus issue in respect of existing Ordinary Shares and the conversion into new Ordinary Shares
of al Junior Preference Shares, including accumulated redemption premium thereon. Following the restructuring the Trust
held a total of 1,727,043 new Ordinary Shares. Of these 1,305,480 were transferred to two new employee benefit trusts
("the UK and Overseas Trusts") for nil consideration to satisfy the initial grant of 120 Free Shares to every eligible employee
on the Inttial Public Offering. The Trust has waived any entitlernent to the receipt of dividends in respect of all of its holding
of the Company’s Ordinary Shares. The Trust's waiver of dividends may be revoked or varied at any time.

All shares held by the Trust have been financed by loans from a subsidiary of the Company, which at 26 April 2003
totalled £nil (2002: £937,000).

The Group also established the UK and Overseas Trusts to hold the Company’s shares in connection with the HMY
Group plc Share Incentive Plan, detals of which are provided in the Directors’ remuneration report on page 43, At 26 April
2003 the UK and Overseas Trusts held 1,798,806 shares with a nominal value of £18,000. These shares, whose market
value at 26 April 2003 was £2.1 milion, are held in the Group balance sheet at nil value.

15, Investments: subsidiaries

Company F.%%&g Pm\ggigg bk Z%egt
At 27 April 2002 784,962 (130,000) 654,962
Additions 14,506 - 14,506
AL 26 April 2003 799,468 (130,000) 669,468

The Company increased the value of its investment i Rustico Holdings Limited during the year.
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15. Investments: subsidiaries {continued)

Subsidiary undertakings
The folowing information relates to those subsidiaries whose results or financial position, in the opinion of the Directors,
principally affect the figures of the Group. All subsidiaries are 100% owned.

Name of undertaking Country of incorporation
HMVY Music Limited England and Wales
HMV (P) Limited England and Wales
HMV USA LP UsA
HMV Canada inc Canada
HMV Japan KK Japan
HMV Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong
HMV Singapore Pte Limited Singapore
HMV Australia Pty Limited Australia
HMV Tontrager GmbH Germany
HMV Ireland Limted* Ireland
Rustico Holdings Limited Ireland
Waterstone's Booksellers Limited England and Wales
Waterstone's Booksellers Amsterdam BV Netherlands
Waterstone's Booksellers Belgium SA Belgium
Waterstone's Bookselers Ireland Limited! Irefand
1 Not directly held by the Company.

Al subsidiaries listed above are included in the consolidation. The principal activity of all subsidiaries in the HMV Group
i the retailing of books or muisic and video.

16. Stocks

Stocks primarily comprise finished goods and goods for resale. The replacement cost of stock is considered to be not
materialy different from the balance sheet value.

17. Debtors
Group Group Company Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
£000 £000 £000 £000
Due within one year:
Trade debtors 10,469 9,557 - -
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings - - 260,908 357,887
Corporation taxation recoverable 1,802 81 - -
Deferred taxation 5,790 8,616 2,069 1.670
Other debtors 1,649 17,702 - -
Prepayments and accrued income 22,764 21126 64 138

52,474 58,082 263.041 358,695

Due after more than one year:

Deferred taxation 8,119 - 109 -
Other debtors 7.893 8.046 - -
Prepayments and accrued income 25 29 - -

16,037 8,075 109 -

Totai debtors 68,511 66,157 263,150 359,695
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18. Borrowings

The following disclosures describe the Company's borrowings and facilities at 26 April 2003 and 27 April 2002.

Concurrent with the Company's fiotation on the London Stock Exchange on 15 May 2002 the Company repaid its existing
bank faciities and drew down on a new £275 milion bank term debt faciity and a £150 milion bank revolving credit facility.
In addition, the Company's Senior Subordinated Notes were repaid from the proceeds of the fiotation.

Group! Group? Company? Group' Group#? Company’
2003 2003 2003 2002 2002 2002
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Bomrowings repayable
within one year or on demand: 38,157 36,241 23,084 51,462 49,787 3414
Borrowings repayable after one year:
Between one and two years 40,000 38,240 38,240 1,999 1,999 1,999
Between two and five years 185,000 182,303 182,303 204,162 201,301 201,30
Not wholly repayable within five years:
£ Senior Subordinated Notes - - - 135,000 131,830 131,830
US$% Senior Subordinated Notes - - - 86,207 84,182 84,182
225,000 220,543 220543 427,375 419,312 419,312
Total borrowings 263,157 256,784 243,627 478,837 469,089 453,453
1 Borrowings are stated gross of cash balances, before unamortised deferred financing fees.
2 Borrowings are stated gross of cash balances, after unamortised deferred financing fees.

Senior Faciity Agreement

The Senior Faciity Agreement existing at 27 April 2002 was repaid on flotation of the Cornpany on the London Stock

Exchange on 15 May 2002. A new syndicated bank Senior Facilty Agreement was entered into, consisting of a

£275 milion term loan facility and a £150 milion revalving credit faciity. The committed faciities under these agreements

are as set out below.

Total avaiable at

26 April 27 Apdl

- 2003 2002
Faciity £ milion £ milion
Sterling amortising term loan facility 2500 -
Sterling amortising term loan faclities - 105.8
US doliar ameortising term loan facilities - 136.2
Multi currency revolving credlit facility 1500 150.0
Total 400.0 3920

Deferred financing fees totaling £9.7 milion relating to the previous Senior Faciity Agreement have been charged

to the profit and loss account as an exceptional finance cost in the year ended 26 April 2003.
Further fees totaling £8.4 milion relating to the arrangement of the new Senior Facifty Agreement have been
deferred and are being amortised over the five year term of the Senior Faciity Agreement.

Interest on advances under the new Senior Faciity Agreement was payable during the financiat year ended
26 April 2003 at a rate per annurm equal to UBOR plus a margin of 1.5%. Since the year end, from 23 May 2003,

the margin has reduced o 0.875%.
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18. Borrowings {continued)

Senior Subordinated Notes

On 22 May 1998 the Company issued Senior Subordinated Notes (the "Notes”) totaling £211,687,117. The Notes
comprised £135,000,000 10%% sterling denominated Notes (the "Sterling Notes™} and US$125,000,000 10%% US dollar
dencminated Notes {the "US dollar Notes”) both of which were due to mature in 2008. The proceeds of the flotation were

used to repay the Notes, giving rise to an exceptional interest charge of £25.6 milion, which has been charged to the profit
and loss account in the 52 weeks ended 26 April 2003.

Security
The borrowings under the new Senior Faciity Agreement are secured by the Guarantars that comprise HMV Group pic
and any wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company who accede 10 the new Senior Faciity Agreement as guarantors.
As a condition of the Agreement, the aggregate gross assets, revenue and profit before interest and tax of the Guarantors
must cornprise not less than 75% of the total gross assets, revenue and profit before tax and interest of the Company and
its Subsidiaries. The guarantors currently comprise HMV Group plc, HMV Music Limited, Waterstone's Bookselers Limited,
HMV (IP) Limited and HMV UK Limited. The Company has granted security comprising first ranking fixed and floating
charges over all the assets and undertakings of the guarantors.

Under their banking arrangements, overdraft and cash balances of the Company and of centain subsidiaries are

pooled or offset and cross-guarantead. Such pooling and offset arrangements are reflected in the Group balance sheet
as appropriate.

19. Derivatives and other financial instruments

OCbjectives, policies and strategies for the rale of derivatives and the other financial instruments

The Group finances itself through cash generated by operations and bank torrowings. The financial nstruments of the
Group comprise borrowings, cash and liquid resources, derivatives and various items including trade debtors and creditors
that arise directly from its operations.

The Group has committed bank facilities comprising a sterling denominated term loan of £250 milion and a revolving
credit faciity of £160 milion, which provides funding for its operations in the UK and indirectly to its operations in other
territories, through letter of credit provisions. The Group may also provide funds to overseas subsidiaries by lending
intra-Group on com miercial terms, or by issuing a guarantee in respect of local bank borrowings.

The Group also enters inta derivative transactions and has procedures in place to monitor and control their use.

The Group's use of derivatives is to modify the currency exposure of its debt to match underlying cash flow and assets,
1o lmit borrowing costs and to hedge product purchases. In all cases underlying exposures justify the use of derivatives.

The financial risks to which the Group is exposed, described below, are managed by Treasury using policies

approved by the Board.

Liquidity risk
The Group has committed bank faciiies comprising a term loan of £250 million and a revolving credit facility of £150 million,

which together with cash on deposit provides sufficient funding for the Group’s aperations. The adequacy of the funding
arrangements is reviewed regufarly,

Interest rate risks

The Group's bank term debt carries a variable rate of interest linked to prevailing interest rates. In order to mitigate the risk
of a rise in interest rates, the Group has entered into several interest rate derivative contracts such that 60% of the term
debt carries a fixed rate of interest. The position is reviewed regularly.

Counterparty risk

Treasury deposits any cash balances that arise with counterparties that have a strong credit rating, with an agreed lirmit for

each counterparty, so as to limit the risk of loss arising from a failure. Counterparties include AAA-rated Liquidity funds, and
various banks.
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19. Derivatives and other financial instruments (continued)

Foreign exchanige risk
The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge the foreign exchange risk of imports where volumes are
significant. However, the Group's operating businesses generally source the majority of their product from suppliers within
their country of operation and so the foreign exchange exposure is small.

The Group is also exposed o foreign curency translation risk through its investment in overseas subsidiaries.
This is partially hedged by local debt, but the Group does not hedge the remaining exposure. Generally, the Group does

not hedge any net translation exposure of overseas earnings, although it may in certain crcumstances implement hedges
to secure short-term financial objectives.

Non-equity shares

Al of the Company’s non-equity share capial has been redeemed of converted {cllowing the fisiing on the London Stock
exchange on 15 May 2002,

The disclosures below exclude short-term debtors and creditors and balances in respect of non-equity shares.
Al Group borrowings are stated gross of deferred financing fees as shown in Note 18 on page 70.

Interest rate profile of financial liabilties

2003 2002
Variable Fixed No Varaple Fixed No
Total rate rate interest Total rate rate interest
£000 £000 £00C0 £000 £000 E£GQ0 £000 £000
Sterling
- Direct (250,500) (100,000) {15C,000) (500) (240,790) (105,790} (135,000) -
- Synthetic - - - - (136,194) (136.194) - -
US dollar {440) (440} - - (87,697) (1,450) (86,207} -
Japanese yen (7.830) (7.830) - - {6,940 (6,940) - -
Euro - - - - (216) (218) - -
Canadian dollar (4,887} (4,887) - - {7,000) {7,000) - -
Other (90} - - (90) (72) - - (72)
Total (263,747) (113,157)  (150,000) (590} (478,909) (257,630) (221,207 (72)
Fixed rate financial liabilties
2003 2002
Weighted Weighted No interest Weighted Weighted No interest
average average weighted average average weighted
interest penca for average interest periad for average
rate which fixed maturity rate which fixed matunty
% Years Years % Years Years
Sterling 617 1.6 - 10.88 6.1 -
US dollar - - - 10.25 6.1 -
Other - - >1 - - >1

The variable rate financial iabilties comprise senior bank borrowings bearing interest at rates set in advance for periods
ranging from one week to six months by reference to the relevant benchmark, being LIBOR for sterling, PRIME for US
and Canadian dolars and Japanese yen and Euribor for Euro borrowings (See Note 18). The figures shown in the tables
above take into account the effect of interest rate swaps used to manage the interest rate profile of the financial fabilities.
Since the year end, the weighted average interest rate on the fixed rate financial liabiities has reduced to 5.54%, due to
the reduction in the interest margin, on 23 May 2003,
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19. Derivatives and other financial instruments (continued)

Interest rate profile of financial assets
The Group had the following financial assets:

2003 2002
£000 £000

Assets held as part of the Group financing arrangements
- Sterling 83,306 60,528
- US dolar 436 -
- Japanese yen 8,852 4,942
- Euro 4,317 7,252
- Canadian dolar 1172 1.039
- Other 6,408 4,645

104,591 78,4086

Long-terrn debtors on which no interest is received

- Japanese yen 7,046 6,830
~ Other 872 1,246
7.918 8,076

The assets held as part of Group financing arrangements include cash in bank accounts and cash in transit, being cash
and card receipts received at the stores but not yet paid into or credited to the bank accounts and short-term money
market depaosits. The long-term debtors principally include “key money” held as security by landlords of certain stores
in Japan. The Group had no fixed rate financial assets at 26 April 2003 (2002: £nil).

Cumrency exposures
The principal currency exposures of the Group as at 26 April 2003 and 27 Aprit 2002 were as follows:

Net foreign currency monetary Net foreign currency monetary

assets (labiities) assels (iabiites)

US dolar Stering Totat US dallar Stering Tora!

2003 2003 2003 2002 2002 2002

Functional currency of Group operation £000 £000 £00O ECOO £000 £000
Sterfing - - - 86,207} - (86,207)
Japanese yen (141) {348) (489) (165} (172) (337
Euro - (692} {692} - 7,078 7.078
Other (309) 5,740 5,431 (543) (1768) (1.709)
Total (450) 4,700 4,250 (86,915) 5,740 (81,175)

The exposures defined in the table above comprise the rnonetary assets and monetary liabilities of the Group that are
not denominated in the operating (or functional) curency of the operating unit involved and give rise to the net currency
gains and losses recognised in the profit and loss account. The amounts shown take into account the effect of foreign
exchange conwracts entered into 10 manage these currency exposures.

The profite of currency exposures is profoundly different in 2003 compared to 2002, primarily due to the repayment
of the US dollar Notes which has effectively eiminated the US daollar exposure.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabiities

The table below is a comparison by category of book values and fair values of all the Group's financial instruments at
26 Apri 2003 and 27 April 2002

Book value Fair value Book value Fair value

) 2003 2003 2002 2002
Prirmary financial instruments £000 £000 £000 £000
Long-term creditors (520) (590) (72) 72)
Short-term borrowings and current portion of long-term borrowings (38,157 (38,157) (51,462) (51,462)
lL.ong-terrm borrowings (225,000) (225,000} (427,375) (448,165)
Cash and short-term deposits 104,591 104,591 78,406 78,406
Long-term debtors 7,918 7,918 8,076 8076
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18, Derivatives and other financial instruments (continued)

Expected Expected
Contact maturity Contract maturity
amaount Book value Fair value before amount Book value Fair value hefore
Derivative financial 2003 2003 2003 26 Apri 2002 2002 2002 27 April
instrurments £000 £000 £000 Year £000 £000 £000 Year
Cross currency
swaps - - - - 136,380 - (2,797 2003
interest rate caps - - - - 100,000 - - 2003
Interest rate swaps 70,000 - 0 2005 70,000 - (358) 2005
Interest rate swaps 80.000 - (3.440) 2006 80,000 - (349) 2008
Forward foreign
exchange contracts
- Financial activities 66,303 - (17} 2004 68,969 - (713) 2003
- Commescial
activities 16,819 - (268) 2004 10,424 - (82} 2003
Fair value

Forward rate agreements, currency swap agreements, interest rate swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts are
valued at the contract rate in respect of their ongoing camying value in the financial statements and at closing market rates
of exchange for market valuation. The fair value of options is based on market prices at the period end.

The fair value of short-term borrowings and investments is based on the carrying amount as a result of their

short maturity. The fair vakie of long-term borrowings is based on current market rates and quoted market prices
{where avalable), otherwise the carrying value is used.

Boock value
The book value cof financial instruments does not include an allocation of deferred financing fees.

Hedges
Gains and losses on instruments used for hedging are not recognised untl the exposure that is being hedged
is itself recognised.

Net Gains
Gains L osses {losses)
ECDD £000 £000
Unrecognised gains (losses) at 28 April 2001 17,367 mn 17.356
Gains (losses) arising in previous periods, recognised in peried to 27 April 2002 (17.367) 1 (17.356)
Gains (losses) arising before 28 April 2001 not recognised in period to 27 April 2002 - - -
Gains (losses) arising, but not recognised in period to 27 April 2002 291 (4,584) (4,293)
Unrecognised gains (losses) at 27 Aprit 2002 291 (4.584) (4,293)
Gains (losses) arising in previous periods, recognised in period to 26 April 2003 291 (4,235) (3.944)
Gains (losses) arising before 27 April 2002 not recognised in period to 26 April 2003 - (349} (349)
Gains (losses) arising, but not recognised in period to 26 April 2003 373 (3.749) (3.376)
Unrecognised gains (josses) at 26 April 2003 373 (4,098} (3.725)
Of which:
Gains (losses) expected to be recognised in less than one year 373 (658) (285)

Gains {losses) expected to be recognised after more than one year - (3,440} (3,440Q)
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19. Derivatives and other financial instruments (continued)

Maturity of financial tabiities

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabiities as at 26 April 2003 is as folows:

2004

2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Currency
Sterling (25,000)  (40,000)  (50,000) (40,000}  (95,000) - (250,000}
Canadian dollar (4.887) - - - - - (4,887}
Japanese yen (7.830} - - - - - (7.830)
US dollar (440) - - - - - (440)
Total (38,157) (40,000) (50,000) {40,000) {95,000) - (263,157}
Borrowing facilties
2003 2002
£000 £000
Undrawn committed faciliies avalable to the Group
Expiring within one year 10,541 8.445
Expiring in more than one year but nct more than two years - -
Expiring in more than two years 123,083 171,695
Total 133,624 180,140

Under the terms of the Senior Faciity Agreement existing at 27 April 2002, the Company repaid all amounts outstanding
under the Senior Faciity Agreement on flotation of the Company on the London Stock Exchange. Deferred financing fees
totaling £9.7 milion refating 1o the existing Agreement have been charged to the profit and loss account as an exceptional

finance cost in the year ended 26 April 2003,

On 24 April 2002 the Company entered into a new syndicated bank Senior Facilty Agreement, conditional upon
fiotation, consisting of a £275 milien term debt and a £150 milion revalving credit facility. This was utilised on 15 May 2002

to repay the previous facility.

Interest on advances under the new Senior Faciity Agreement was payable during the financial year at a rate per
annurm equal to LIBOR plus a margin of 1.5%. Since the year end, on 23 May 2003, the margin on the senior bank debt

reduced to 0.875%.

In addfition to direct drawings under the revolving credit facility in the UK, the Group utiised the: facility by drawing
letters of credit to support faciliies provided by local banks overseas. Although these locally provided faciities nominally
expired in less than one year, they could be renewed provided that the letter of credit drawn under the revolving credit
faciity is renewed. The table above reflects the undrawn portion of these locally provided faciliies as expiring in less than

one year,

As at 26 April 2003, letters of creditissued totalled £26.9 milion, of which £13.8 milion was undrawn (2002:

£12.7 milion). Also, the Group has given a parent guarantee to support an uncommitted local faclity totaling £2.1 milion,

which was undrawn at 26 April 2003.
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20. Cash, liquid resources and financing
The Group’s net borrowings at 26 April 2003 comgrised:

2003 2002

Liquig Net Net

Cash resources Financing borrowings borrowings

£000 £00Q EO0 £000 £000

investrnents and short-term deposits - 1,835 - 1.835 1,151
Cash at bank and in hand 102,756 - - 102,756 71,255
Cash at bank and in hand 102,756 1,835 - 104,591 78,406
Borrowings due within cne year {13,157} - (23,084) (36,241} (49,787
Borrowings due after more than one year - - (220.543) (220.543) (419,312}
{13157) - (243,627} (256,784) (469.099)

AL 26 April 2003 89,599 1,835 (243627} (152,193) (390.693)

Net borrowings are repayable as follows:

Group Group Company Company

2003 2002 2003 2002

£000 £000 £000 £000
In one year or less 68,350 28,619 25,579 {12,895)
Between one and twao years (38,240} (1,999) {38,240) (0,989)
Between two and five years (182,303) (201,301)  (182,303) (201,307)
More than five years - (216,012} - (216,012)
(152,193} (390,693} (194,964) {432,207)

The following definitions have been used:

- Cash: Cash at bank and in hand and deposits repayable on demand if avaiiable within 24 hours without penalty,

less overdrafts.

- Liquid resources: Investments and deposits, other than those included as cash, which are readily convertible into known

amounts of cash.
- Financing: Borrowings, less overdrafts that have been reated as cash.

Analysis of movement in the Group’s net bomrowings in the period

At Other At

27 Apri non-cash Exchange 26 Apri

2002 Cash flow changes’ movements 2003

£000 £000 ECOO £000 £000

Cash at bank and in hand 77,255 25,279 - 222 102,756

Overdraft (11,904) 3,736 - 231 (7.937)

Cash 65,351 29,015 - 453 54,819

Debt due afier more than one year (419.312) 203,460 (5,287 590 (220.543)

Debt due within one year (37.883) 7.377 1,916 286 (28,304)

Financing (457,195) 210,837 (3.365) 876 (248,847)

Liquid resources {cash deposits) 1351 795 - o) 1.835

Total (390,693} 240,647 (3.365) 1,218 {152,193}
}2 Represents borrowings due within one year.

Represents issue costs incurred in connection with the raising of debt and the classification of the Term debt that is due within one year.

The issue costs have been offset against the relevant debt instrument in accordance with FRS 4 “Capital Instrurments”. The cash impact
of these costs is included with Returns on investment and servicing of finance in accordance with FRS 1 (Revised).
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20. Cash, liquid resources and finarcing (continued)
Reconciiation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

2003 2002
£000 £000
Increase in cash 29,015 59,469
Cash outflow from financing 210,837 46,811
Issue costs of long-term loans 8,425 -
Cash outflow (inflow) from short-term deposits 795 {2,868)
Change in net debt resulting from cash flows 249,072 103,212
Exchange differences 1,218 57
Armortisation of deferred financing fees (11,790 (3.012)
Decrease in net debt 238,500 100,257
Opening net debt (390,693) (490,950}
Closing net debt (152,193)  (390,693)
21. Other creditors: amounts faling due within one year
Group Group Company Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
£000 £000 £000 £000
Trade creditors 196,220 191,198 - -
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings - - 326498 390982
Corporate taxation 21,528 19,919 1142 782
Other taxes including VAT and social security costs 6,585 9,342 809 580
Defered consideration payable - 50,000 - 50,000
Other creditors 66,544 76,616 7,129 23,669
Accruals and deferred income 3880 40,799 9,570 7,918
Dividends payable 13712 - 13,712 -
343,490 387,874 358,860 473,932
22. Other creditors: amounts faling due after more than one year
Group Group Company Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
£0600 £000 £000 £000
Other creditors 590 72 500 -
23. Deferred taxation
Group Group Company Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
£000 £000 £000 £000
Excess of accumulated taxation alowances over depreciation
provided against tangible fixed assets (8,119} (5.998) (109) mo)
Other timing differences (5,790} (3.618) (2.069) (1,580)
(13,909) (9,616) (2,178} (1.670)
Movements during the year:
Cpening balance (9,616} (8,365) (1,670 (751
Currency translation 96 - - -
Credited to profit on ordinary activities (4.389) (1.257) (508) (919}
Closing balance (13,909) (9.616) (2,178) (1,670}
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23, Deferred taxation contnued
No provision has been made for further taxes which could arise if subsidiary undertakings are disposed of or if overseas
companies were to remit dividends to the UK in excess of those anticipated in these accounts; it is considered
impracticable to estimate the amount of such taxes.

At 26 April 2003 there are deferred tax assets of approximately £4.5 milion (2002: £4. 0 milion) resulting from
tax losses and other timing differences which have not been recognised and wil be recoverable when there are suitable
taxable profits in the appropriate territory against which they can be relieved.

There is no ungrovided deferred tax liabilty as at 26 April 2003 or 27 Aprl 2002.

24, Provisions for liabiities and charges

Total
Group £000
AL 27 Apxdl 2002 15,033
Currency retransiation (716)
Provisions utiised (5148)
Charged to operating profit 3,897
Credited against operating profit {2.219)
Notional interest relating to discount on provisions 759
AL 26 April 2003 11,606

Provisions for liabiliies and charges include amounts in respect of store closures and certair fair value acquisition
adiustments that principally relate to onercus leases with unexpired durations of between one and eight years.

The utlisation of provisions in the current financial year of £5.1 milion reflected the closure of stores in HMV USA
(£3.7 milion) and Waterstone's (£1.4 milion).

The £3.9 milion provision created in the financial year was in respect of the closure of HMV Germany {£1.0 milion)
and further store closures in HMVY USA (£2.9 milion).

The £2.2 milion credit to operating profit was in respect of fair value acquisition provisions made in 1998 in
accordance with FRS 7, which principatty related to onerous leases with unexpired durations of up to a further eight years.

The Company did not have any provisions at either 26 April 2003 or 27 April 2002.

25. Share capital
At 28 Apri 2003 the authorised share capital of the Company comprised 518,580,193 1p Ordinary Shares of which
403,290,659 were allotted, called up and fully paid. During the period under review, significant changes were made
to the authorised and issued share capital of the Company, as described below,

On 8 May 2002 the Company undertook a bonus issue, whereby 4.33776 new Ordinary Shares were issued
for every existing Ordinary Share held,

The authorised share capital of the Company was then increased to £5,430,000 and $162,600 by the: creation
of 360,504,127 new Ordinary Shares. This enlarged share capital was divided into:
- 81,300 12.875% Senior Cumulative Redeemable "A” Preference Shares of $1 each and 81,300 12.875% Senior

Cumulative Redeemable “B” Preference Shares of $1 each;

- 29,400 12.875% Senior Cumulative Redeemable "C” Preference Shares of £0.615 each;
- 518,590,193 1p Ordinary Shares; and
- a Sterling Deferred Share with a nominal value of £226,017.

All of the Senior and Junior Preference Shares and the Steriing Deferred Share were subsequently cancelled at the
Annual General Meeting on 1 October 2002,

The Initial Public Offering comprised the issue of 195,312,500 new Ordinary Shares, the sale of 84,255,525 existing
Ordinary Shares by existing shareholders, and the issue of 17,652 new Ordinary Shares to satisfy options exercised in the
Company, bringing the number of new Ordinary Shares issued on 15 May 2002 to 279,585,679, Subsequent issues of
Ordinary Shares 1o salisfy share options exercised brought the total number of issued Ordinary 1p Shares to 403,290,659.

Junior Preference Shares

On 8 May 2002, al of the Junior Preference shares converted into 145,815,137 new Ordinary Shares and a non-voting
sterling deferred share. The non-voting Steriing Deferred Share was subsequently converted into a capital reserve and
was canceled together with the authorised Junior Preference Shares.

Senicr Preference Shares
The Senior Preference Shares were redeemed at 112.875% of the sum of the issue price and accurnutated unpaid
dvidends (£105.9 milion) on 28 June 2002, The authorised Senior Preference Shares were subsequently cancelled.

Share prerium
On 15 May 2002, the share premium account was credited with £354.8 miilion after deduction of underwriting

commissions and other fees and expenses payable by the Company of £18.0 milion and after accounting for the
bonus issue.
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25. Share capital (continued)

2003 2002 2003 2002
Group and Company Number Number £000 £000
Authorised
Ordinary Shares of 1p each 518590193 10,270,847 5,186 103
Preferred Ordinary Shares "A” of 1p each - 1000000 - 10
Preferred Ordinary Shares "B" of 1p each - 1000000 - 10
Junior Redeemable Preference Shares of 1p each - 68,416,926 - 1,684
12.875% Senior Cumulative Redeemable "A” Preference Shares
of US $1.00 each - 21,300 - 50
12.875% Senior Cumulative Redeemable "B” Preference Shares
of US $1.00 each - 81,300 - 50
12.875% Senior Cumulative Redeernable "C" Preference Shares
of 61.5p each - 29,400 - 18
5186 1,925
2003 2002 2003 2002
Number Number £00C £CO0
Allotted, called up and fully paid
Ordinary Shares of 1p each 403290659 9,430,220 4,033 94
Preferred Ordinary Shares "A” of 1p each - 1000000 - 10
Preferred Ordinary Shares "B" of 1p each - 1,000,000 - 10
Junior Redeemable Preference Shares of 1p sach -'68,416,926 - 1.684
12.875% Senior Cumulative Redeemable "A” Preference Shares
of US $1.00 each - 81,300 - 50
4,033 1,848

Under the provisions of FRS 4 "Capitat Instruments”, the Junior and Senior Preference Share capital was defined as
non-equity share capital.
The Company has two share option schermes under which options to subscribe for the Company's Ordinary

Shares have been granted to certain Directors and senior management, At 27 Aprl 2002 910,601 options were in issue.
As a result of the bonus issue, these options converted to options over 4,860,514 HMV Group plc 1p Ordinary Shares

and the option price was adjusted accardingly. During the 52 weeks ended 26 April 2003 13,943,535 options were

granted (2002; 625,819}, 1,250,000 options lapsed (2002: 282,025) and 1,151,301 options were exercised (2002: 27,5289).

At 26 Apri 2003, therefore 16,402,609 options were in issue,

In the event of a winding up of the Cormpany or other return on capital, the assets available for distribution to shareholders

would be appled in the following order after payment of al debts and liabilities:
(] Repaying pari passu the armounts subscribed (1p per share} for the Ordinary Shares,
iy Distributing paii passu any balance among the halders of the Ordinary Shares.

26. Pension arrangements

HMV Group employees are members of a number of pension schemes. The main schemes that cover employees
in the United Kingdom, are the HMV Group Pension Scheme (the “Scheme” - established with effect from July 1998)

and the EMI Group Pension Fund (the "Fund”).

The Scheme

The Scheme is based in the UK and has two sections - the Pensicn Benefit Section and the Pension Saver Section.

Pension Benefit Section

It is an Inland Revenue exempt approved scheme for the purpose of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 and

is contracted out of SERPS.

The Pension Benefit Section is of the defined benefit type. The benefits it provides are based on final pensionable

pay and are guaranteed to increase in payment by 5% per annum or by the increase in the cost of living, if less.
Members contribute at the rate of 4% of pensionable pay.
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26. Pension arangements continued
A qualified actuary made an actuarial valuation as at 30 June 2002. The valuation was based on an assumed
investment return of 7.0% a year, salary increases of 4.0% a year, and annual pension increases of 2.5%, and used the
projected unit method. The result of the valuation was a level of asset cover of 94%, representing a funding deficit of
£0.9 milien. In addition, the total cost of accruing benefits was given as 16.8% of pensionable pay (including an alowance
for administrative expenses), of which members of the Pension Beneflt Section pay 4.0%. leaving the Company’s regular
cost at 12.8% of pensionable pay. The market value of the assets of the Pension Benefit Scheme at 30 June 2002 was
about £13.1 milion. The next actuarial review wil take place no later than 30 June 2005.

In the ight of the small deficit of assets over the cost of benefits, the Company wilt contribute at a rate of 12.5%
of pensionable pay from 1 June 2004. This rate, calculated in accordance with the recommendations of the actuary,
is sufficient to eliminate the deficit over a period of seven years. Actual emnployer contributions to the Pension Benefit
Section for the 52 weeks ended 26 April 2003 were £1.0 milion (2002: £0.9 milion).

Pension Saver Section
This Section was established for all other employees of the Group including those who were then members of the
WH Smith Retirement Savings Plan up to 30 June 1998.

ltis of the defined contribution type and is open to permanent staff of the Company who have completed three
months’ service and are efigible to join. Members can choose ta pay from 2% to 5% of pensionable pay. The Company
matches the amount paid by the member up to a maximum of 5% of pensionable pay. Mernbers have a choice of ways
to invest their and the Company's contributions in an individual fund to buy pension benefits of their choice. it also provides
ife assurance whist members are emplayed by the Company.

The Fund

The flotation of the Company’s shares on the Londen Stock Exchange on 15 May 2002 and the concurrent diution of EMI
Group plc's investment in the Company started a process of separation of pension arrangements, which wil be complete
with effect from 1 June 2003. Censequently throughout the 52 weeks ended 26 April 2003 relevant HMY Group
employees in the UK remained members of, and continued to participate in, the Fund.

The separation of pension arrangements provided each member with the option of taking up membership of the
Scheme. For members who so elect (transferring members), a transfer value in respect of their accrued rights wil be paid
from the Fund to the Scheme. The benefits granted to transferring members wil be broadly comparable with those which
they had individually accrued in the Fund. Certain executives are entitled to enhanced levels of benefits under the Fund as
"executive members”. Some of those executives are subject to the "earnings cap” (which mits the amount of their salary
which may be treated as pensionable under an Inland Revenue exempt approved pension scheme) and are members,
or may become eiigible for membership, of top-up arrangements for life insurance, pension and disability benefits.

The present value of the kabiities represented by these accrued rights, was approximately £21.0 milion as at 27 April 2003.
The transfer of assets would be expected to be broadly consistent with this amount, but would not be finalised untl the
paint of transfer, which is dependent on the finafisation of an actuarial valuation of the Fund currently in progress.

EMI Group plc is the principal employer of the Fund. The Fund is of the defined benéfit type, is based in the UK,
is an Inland Revenue exempt approved scheme for the purposes of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 and
is contracted out of the State Eamings Related Pension Scheme. The Fund is open to alf permanent employees of
EMI Group over the age of 18 ermployed in the UK. Benefits provided by the Fund are based on final pensionable pay.
Pensions payable from the Fund are guaranteed to increase by 5% per annum or by the increase in the cost of iving
if less. Members contribute to the Fund at the rate of 4% of pensionable pay.

The latest available actuarial valuation of the Fund was made by a qualified actuary as at 31 March 2000. At that date, the
market value of the assets of the EMI Fund was taken to be £1.379.0 milion. The market value of the assets was sufficient
to cover 117% of the value of the benefits that had accrued to the members, after allowing for assumed increases in
earnings, on the actuasial assumptions used, treating the EMI Fund as an ongaing entity. Part of the above excess assets
disclosed by the 2000 valuation has been used to finance a special increase of 3% to pensions in payment and part has
been allocated towards a reduction in employer contributions below the long-term rate, with the balance being carried
forward as a reserve in the EMI fund.

Employer expense in respect of the Fund has been calculated in accordance with the recommendations of the
actuary. On the basis of actuarial advice, it is calculated that emplayer expense would represent a credit to the profitand
loss account on full application of SSAP 24 principles. However, for reasons of conservatism, such expense has been
taken as ni for the 52 weeks ended 26 April 2003 (2002 £nil).
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26. Pension arangements {continued)

FRS 17 Retirement Benefis

In accordance with the transitional implementation rules set out in FRS 17 "Retrement Benefits”, additional disclosures
are set out below. These have been updated by professionally qualified actuaries to take into account the requirements
of FRS 17 and to assess the labilities of the Scheme at 26 Aprl 2003. Scheme assets are stated at their market value at

26 April 2003.
Asat As at
26 April 2003 27 April 2002
Major assumptions % per annum % per annum
Rate of price inflation 25 2.5
Rate of salary increase 4.0 4.0
Rate of increase for pensions in payment 25 2.5
Rate used to discount scheme liabilities 54 575
Expected rate of return on equities 8.0 7.5
Expected rate of return on bonds 50 5.2

On full compliance with FRS 17, on the basis of the above assumptions, the amounts that would have been charged
or credited to the consolidated profit and loss account and consolidated statement of total recognised gains and losses

for the 52 weeks ended 26 Aprit 2003 are set out below:

2003
£'000
Operating profit
Current service cost (1,700}
Past service cost -
Total charge to operating profit (1,700)
finance income
Interest on pension scheme labiities (1,000}
Expected rate of return on assets in the pension scheme 1,100
Net credit to other finance income 100
Tetal profit and loss charge before deduction for taxation {1,600)
Consolidated staternent of total recognised gains and losses
Actual return less expected return on assets {3,900)
Experience gains and losses arising on liabilities 700
Changes in assumptions undertying the present value of the scheme labiiities (2,900)
Actuarial i0ss recognised in the consclidated statement of total recognised gains and osses {7.500)
Further disclosures %
Difference between the expected and actual return
on scheme assets expressed as a percentage of the scheme assets (320
Experience gains and losses on scheme liabiities
expressed as a percentage of the present value of the scheme liabilities (3.0)

Total actuarial loss recognised in the consolidated statement of
total recognised gains and losses, expressed as a percentage of the present value of the scheme liabilties

(32.5)
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As at As At
26 Apil 2003 27 Apri 2002
Market value of assets £000 £000
Equities 10,600 12,300
Bonds 1,600 1,800
Total market value of assets 12,200 14,100
Present value of scheme liabilties {23.100) (16,800}
Deficit in the Scheme {10,900) (2,700)
Deferred tax 3,300 800
Net pension liability (7.600) {1,900)
2003
Movement in defict during the year £000
Deficit in scheme at the beginning of the year (2.700)
Contributions paid 900
Current service cost {1,700)
Net credit to cther finance income 100
Actuarial loss {7.500)
Defick in scheme at the end of the year (10,900}

In respect of HMV Group employees’ participation in the EMI Fund, the Company is unabile to identify ks share of the
underlying assets and liabilities in this multi-employer Fund on a reasonable and consistent basis. Consequently, it has
taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 17 and will treat the Fund on a defined contribution basis until the arrangement
ceases and the members transfer to the HMV scheme. Accordingly, no FRS 17 transitional disclosures are required at

26 April 2003.

If the above numbers had been recognised in the financial statements, the Group’s net assets and profit and loss reserve

as at 26 Aprit 2003 would have been as follows:

2003 2002

Net assets £000 £000
Net assets excluding net pension liability (132,684) (416,008)
Pension provision under SSAP 24 - -
Net pension liability (7,600} (1.900)
Net assets inciuding net pension liabifty (140,294)  (417,.908)
2003 2002

Reserves £000 £000
Profit and loss reserve excluding net pension liabilty (445,202) (421,287)
Pension provision under SSAP 24 - -
Net pension liabifity (7.600) (1,900}
Profit and loss reserve including net pension liabicy (452,802} (423187
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27. Related party transactions

The EMi Group plc ("EMI"} was a related party of HMV Group plc as at 27 April 2002 with a shareholding of 45%.
Follewing the Company’s fictation on the London Stock Exchange, this shareholding was diluted to 14.5%. This remaining
stake was sold by EMI Group plc in November 2002. in addition, Mr Eric Nicoli serves as Chairman of both parties.

The EMI Group plc

EMt revolving credit faciity
EMI had made available to the Company a £50.0 milion working capital faciity, which was canceled on 15 May 2002.

Deferred consideration

Deferred consideration of £50.0 milion was paid to EMI on the listing of HMV Group plc on the London Stock Exchange
an15 May 2002,

Trading with the EMI Group
Purchases made by HMV Group plc subsidiaries frorm EMI Group plke subsidiaries in the period amounted to £89.0 rnilion
(2002: £94.5 milion) and the creditors’ balance outstanding at the balance sheet date was £13.1 mifior: (2002: £11.1 milion).

FPurchase of intangible assets
On 8 May 2002, HMV (IP} Limited, a wholy owned subsidiary of HMV Group plc acquired, conditional upen fiotation,

various trademark registrations and applications for the acronym "HMV" and the dog and trumpet trademark from EMI
for a consideration of £2.0 milion.

28. Contingent liabiities
The management of HMV Group is not aware of any legal or arbitration proceedings pending or threatened against any
member of HMV Group which may result in any liabilties significantly in excess of provisions in the financial staterments.

29. Share premium account and reserves

Profit and loss account

Share Profit

premium Capital ) and loss
Group Pooe  “fooo  Rooo " tooo £000
AL 27 April 2002 3431 - {647,495) 228,208 (421,287}
Bonus issue (495) - - - -
Issue of new shares 373,251 - - - -
Issue costs {17.996) - - - -
Creation of capital reserve - 226 - - -
Redemption of Senior Preference Shares (49,942) - - - -
Currency retranslation - - - 2,208 2,208
Net exchange gain on foreign currency borrowings - - - 747 747
Tax on exchange differences - - - 180 190
Transfer from profit and loss account - - - 13,5675 13,575
Reversal of redemption premium on non-equity shares - - - 1777 1,777

Payment of accrued preference dividends on
non-equity shares - -

(36,648) (36,648}
(5,764) (5,764)
At 26 Apri 2003 308.249 226 (647,495) 202293 (445,202}

Exchange loss on redemption of non-equity shares - -

The cumulative amount of goodwil eliminated against the proft and loss account at 26 April 2003 is £647,495,000
(2002: £647.495,000).
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29. Share premium account and reserves (continued)

Profit and loss account

Share Profit

premium Capital and loss

account reserve Goodwil reserves Total
Company £000 £000 £000 £COO £000
At 27 Aprl 2002 3431 - - 103,718
Bonus issue (495) - - - -
Issue of new shares 373,251 - - - -
Issue costs (17,996} - - - -
Creation of capital reserve - 226 - - -
Redemption of Senior Preference Shares (49,942) - - - -
Currency retranslation - - - - -
Net exchange loss on foreign currency borrowings - - - (357) (357)
Tax on exchange differences - - - 190 190
Transfer to profit and loss account - - - 3119 amnme
Reversal of redemnption premium on non-equity shares - - - 1777 1777
Payment of accrued preference dividends on
non-equity shares - - - (36,648) (36,648}
Exchange ioss on redemption of non-equity shares - - - (5.764) (5.764)
At 26 April 2003 308,249 226 - 66,035 66,035

In accordance with the exemption permitted by Section 203({3) of the Companies Act 1985, the profit and loss account
of the Company is not separately presented. The profit an ordinary activities after taxation, dealt with in the accounts of

the Company is £36.6 milion (2002: £125.7 milion).

30, Financial commitments

2003 2002
Group £C00 £000
Capital expenditure: contracted but not provided 1,419 2,349

At the period end, the Group had annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases as follows:

2003 2002
Land and buildings £000 £000
Expiring within one year 8,086 7,318

Expiring between two and five years inclusive
Expiring in over five years

26,531 26,292
89,568 85.846

122,285 119,456

2003 2002
Other £000 £0C0
Expiring within one year 1 6
Expiring between two and five years inclusive - 31

Expiring in over five years
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Group financial record

52 weeks 52 weeks 52 weeks 52 weeks 53 weeks 52 weeks
ended ended ended endad ended ended
26 April 27 Apri 28 April 29 Apr? 29 Aprl 24 April
Summarised profit and loss account £ n%?nga £ riﬁgﬁ £ mzn(!?c?r: £ ri?.tgg £ rigigg £ rﬁ[gg
Turnover
Europe 867.4 784.4 654.0 549.7 558.4 490.4
Asia Pacific 27170 2757 285.4 241.2 2425 2039
North Amaerica 157.1 187.1 199.0 182.7 185.4 173.9
Total HMV 1.301.5 14,2472 1138.4 973.6 986.3 868.2
Waterstone's 406.2 407.3 404.3 388.2 403.9 390.6
Total Group 1,707.7 1.654.5 1.542.7 1.371.8 1,390.2 1.258.8
Operating profit before exceptional tems
Europe 88.6 74.0 48.7 38.7 41.2 359
Asia Pacific 9.3 8.4 7.0 55 5.9 3.9
North America (3.5) 1.6 28 7.4 7.9 6.4
Total HMV 94.4 83.4 58.5 516 55.0 46.2
Waterstone's 240 22.2 18,6 234 254 39.8
Total Group 118.4 105.6 771 750 80.4 86.0
Operating exceptional iems - 6.0) (24.2) - (2.6} 7.7
Share of loss of associate - - - - - (1.3)
Non-operating exceptional profit on disposat - 1.0 - - - -
Net finance charges before exceptional items (22.2) (52.0) (66.5) - {60.8) (B81.6}
Exceptional finance charges (36.3) - (4.2) - - -
Profit (loss) before tax 59.9 4886 (17.8) - 17.0 15.4
Tax (12.9} {17.9} 1.2 - (7.6) 50
Profit (loss) for the financial period 47.0 30.7 (16.6) - 9.4 10.4
26 Apri 27 Aprl 28 Apr 29 April 29 Apri 24 Apri
Summarised balance sheet £ n%iongﬁ £ ri%gﬁ £ nf\ﬁ?grl £ nzv?ﬂgg £ nzw%gg £ rr]'lil}igg
Fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets 2.0 - - - - -
Tangible fixed assets 148.1 142.3 161.4 - 1777 145.7
Investments - 089 0.9 - 0.4 0.3
150.1 143.2 162.3 - 1781 146.0
Current assets and labiities
Stocks 156.6 168.3 1858 - 194.5 182.2
Debtors 68.5 66.1 62.2 - 62.4 5286
Creditors {exciuding net borrowings) {(344.7) (387.9) (318.8) - (261.9) (246.9)
Provisions (11.8) (15.0) (23.7) - (23.7) (29.5)
(130.6) {168.5) {94.5) - (28.7) (41.6)
Total assets and liabilties
{excluding net borrowings) 19.5 (25.3) 67.8 - 149.4 104.4

1 The Group Financial Summary has been prepared on the basis of the current accounting poficies as set cut an pages 59 and 60.
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Pro forma financial information

The key financiat results are restated below on a pro forma basis to reflect the fundamental change in capital structure,
which took place at the beginning of the financial year, The results are for ilustrative purposes only and do not reflect the
actual results for the period.

2003 2002
Notes Em £mn

Turnover 7077 1,654.5

Operating profit 1 118.4 105.6

Net finance charges 2 (21.9) {25.6)

Profit before taxation 96.5 80.0

Taxation 3 (29.9) (26.4)

Earnings 66.6 536

Pro forma earnings per share 4 18.0p 13.3p

Underlying pro forma earnings per share 4 16.5p 13.3p

Dividend per share 5 4.5p 3.7p

Cash flow from operations before flotation cost spend 6 183.8 182.2

Capttal expenditure (49.0) {23.5)

Other (0.5) 0.3

Operating cash flow 134.3 158.0

Undertying net debt 7 (158.6} (253.6}

Notes

1 Operating profit for the 52 weeks ended 27 Aprit 2002 is stated before £6.0 milion of exceptional flotation costs.

2 Pro forma net finance charges for each period are calculated on the basis that the Group's new capital structure
had been in place from 29 April 2001, and exclude the effect of the exceptional costs relating 1o the flotation
and refinancing.

3 The tax charge for each period is adjusted on the basis of an underlying eftective rate of 31% (2002: 33%).

The rate for the current year excludes the benefit from the first time recognition of a deferred tax assetin
HMV Japan.

4 Pro forma earnings per share for each period, adjusted for the change in capital structure, is calculated by
reference to the number of Ordinary Shares in issue at the balance sheet date {26 April 2003: 402.7 milion
shares}. The underlying pro forma earnings per share is further adjusted to reflect the undertying tax rate of 31%.

5 The full year dividend for the 52 weeks ended 27 April 2002 is an indication of the distribution the Company weuld
have made had the Group’s new capital structure been in place from 28 April 2001. Dividends for each period
exclude any distributions in respect of the junior or senior preference share capital of the Company converted
or redeemed on flotation.

6 Cash flow from operations is stated before the cash outflow of £3.1 milion (27 April 2002: £2.1 million) arising from
aperating exceptional flotation costs incurred.

7 Pro forma underlying net debt is calculated on the basis that the Group’s new capital structure had been in place

from 29 April 2001. Pro forma underlying net debt at 27 April 2002 therefore reflects the: following adjustments:
proceeds of the sale of the Company’s Crdinary Shares on flotation (£375.0 milion) less costs incurred on
flotation charged 1o the share premium account (£18.0 milion}, settlement of £6.0 milion flotation costs charged
at April 2002 (£2.1 million by April 2002, £3.1 milion by April 2003, £0.8 milion non-cash}, costs associated with
arranging the new bank faciity (£8.4 milion), deferred consideration paid to EMI Group plc (E50.0 milion), interest
payable on the tender offer for the Senior Subordinated Notes (£25.6 milion) and associated fees (£1.0 rmilion),
the settlement of accrued interest on the Notes and original bank faciities (£16.2 milion) and the redemption of
the Senior Preference Shares (£105.9 milion).
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Store directory

HMV Europe
UK

360 Oxford Street
ﬁi}ﬂgr%een
sbury

Ba%ymena
Banbury
Basidon
Basingstoke
Batnh
Belfast Donegall
Belfast Forestside
Bexleyheath
Brmingharmn High Street
Birmingham Palasades
Birmingham The Fort
Blackburn
Blackpoai
Bluswater
Boton
Bournemouth
Brackned
Bradford
Brent Cross
Brighton
Brighton Churchil Square
Bristol
Bristol Cribbs Causeway
Bromley
Cambridge
Canary Wharf
Canterbury
Cardiff
Cartsie®
Chelmsford
Cheltenham
Chester
Colchester”
Coleraine*
Covent Garden
Coventry
Crawiey
Croydon
Darington
Derby
Doncaster
Dundee
Eatn
East Kibride
Edinburgh Fort Kinnairg®
Ecinburgh

Ocean Terminal
Edinburgh Princes Street
Edinburgh St James
Enfleld
Exeter
Faikirk®
Futham
Gateshead
Gatwick North Terminal
Glasgow Argyle Street
Glasgow Braghead
Glasgow

Savichiehall Street
Glasgow Unicn Steet
Gloucester
Grimsby*
Guildford
Hampstead
Hanley
Harrow®
Heathrow Terminal 1
Heathrow Terminal 4
Hounslow
Hul
Invemness
Ipswich
isle of Man
Isle of Wight
Islington®
Jersey
Kettering
Kings Lynn
Hingston
Lancaster
Leadenhal
Leeds Headrow
Leeds White Rose
Leicester
Lincolh
Lisbumn®
Liverpooi
Livingstone®
Londen Victora Station”
Luton
Maicistone
Manchester

21 Market Street

Manchester
90 Market Street
Manchester
Trafford Centre
Manchester
Piccadily Station®
Manchester West One*
Mansfield
Merry Hil
Middlesbrough
Milton Keynes
Monks Crass
Newbury*
Newcastle
Newport
Northampton
Nonaich
Nottngham Listergate
Nottingham Victoria
Qkdham
Oxford
Oxford Crcus
Peterborough
Plymouth
Poole
Porismouth
Preston
Putney
Reading Cracle
Reading Friar Sreet
Readitch®
Richmond
Ramford
Rotherham
Scarborough
Seffridges
Sheffield High Street
Sheffield Meadowhal
Shrewsbury®
Slough
Solhud
Sauthampten
Southend Speke Park®
St Albans
St Helens®
Steckport
Stratford
Sunderland
Sutton
Swansea
Swindon
Telford
Thurrock
Trocaderc
Truro™
Tunbridge Wells
Uxbridge
Wakefield
Warrnngton
Watford*
Welingborough
Wimbledon
Winchester*
Wolverhampton
Wood Green
Worcester
York

ireland
Blanchardstown
Cork

Dublin Grafton Street
Dublin Henry Street
Dunlin Swords
Limerick

Talaght

HMV Asia Pacific

Japan

Abeno

Aqua City Odaiba

Canal City

Ginza

Hakata®

Harajuku

Hawks Town

Hiroshima

lkebukuro Metropoktan

kebukuro Surshine 60

Kawanishi

Kokura*™

Kyoto Rakuhoku

Kyoto Kawaramachi
achida®

Nagoya-Seikatsusoko

Nigata

Ohita*

QOkayama

" Opened since 26 Apri 2003.

Otaru

Sakae

Sannomiya

Sapporo

Sendai lchibanchao
Sendai Vivre

Shibuya

Shinjuku East

Shinjuku South
Shinsaibashi
Shin-Yurigacka
Sukiyabashi

Tachkawa

Ternmabashi

Tenpn

Ueno

Yokchama Kohoku
Yokohama Vivre
Universal City Walk Osaka
Yokohama World Porters

Austrafia

Bankstown

Brisbane Queen Street
Burwood

Carndale

Chadstone
Chatswaood
Chatswood Chase
Chekenham Southland
Chermside

Erina

Glen Waverley The Glen
Hurstville

indooroopity

Kotara

Liverpcol

Loganhalme
Macquarie
Maroochydore
Melbourne Bourke Street
Miranda*®

Mt Druitt

it Gravatt

Pacific Fair

Pagewocod

Parramatta Lvl 3
Parramatta LM 5
Penrith

Prahran Chapel Street
Preston Nerthland
Surfers Paradise”
Sydney Mid City
Tuggerah

Hong Kori
CaugewaygBay
Central Buiding

Shatin

Tsimshatsui

Singapore
CityLink
Heeren Centre

HMV North Amierica
Canada
Abbatsford Seven Oaks
Barrie*
Bramalea
Brampton
Trinity Commion
Burington Mapleview
Burnaby Metrotown
Calgary Chinock
Caigary Market Malk
Calgary North Hil
Calgary Sigral Hil
Calgary South Centre
Calgary Sunridge
Calgary TD
Cambxidge
Chicoutimi Place du
Royaume Coguitlam
Dartmouth Mic Mag Matl
Edmonton Bornie Doon
Edmanton Centre
Edmonton Kingswa
Edrmonton Milwoods
Edmonton Southgate
Etobicoke Shenway
Gardens
Gatineaul'Qutaouais
Guelph Stone Road
Halfax
Hamiftton EC
Hamilton Limeridge
Kekowna Qrchard Park
Kingston Cataraqui

New stores opened in 52 weeks ended 26 Apri 2003.

Kitchener Fainview
Langley Wilowbrcok
Laval
Lethtvidge Park Place
Levis Galeries Chagnon
London Fanshawe
London Westmount
London White Qaks
Markham Markvilke
Medicine Hat
Missisauga Sguare One
Missisauga Erin Mils
Montreal Megastore
Montreal Place Versailes
Nanaimo Wocdgrove
Nepean Bayshore
Nepean Merivale
Newmarket
Upper Canada
Oak\'r}i%
Pickering
Pointe Claire
Prince George Pine
Centre Orleans Place
D'Orkeans Oshawa
Ottawa Bank/Sparks
QOttawa Rideau Centre
Quawa 5t Laurent
Quebec Fleur De Lys
Quebec Galeries de la
Capitale Red Deer
Bower Place
Regina Comwal Cenrre
Regina Nerthgate
Regina Southland
Richmond
Saskatoon Lawson
Heights Scarborough
Sherbrooke
St Bruno
5t Catharine's Pen Centre
Ste Foy Place Laurier
St Laurent Place Vertu
Surrery Guidford
Thornhill Promenade
Thunder Bay Intercity
Toranto Bloor Street
Toronto Eaton Centre
Toronto Dufferin Mak
Toronto Fainnew
Toronto
First Canadian Pace
Toronta Queen Street
Toronte Superstere
Toronto Weston Road
Toronto Yange & Eginton
Toronto Yorkdale
Trois Rivieres
Victoria Hilkide
Victoria Mayfair
Victeriavile
Vile g'Anjou
Villke Mount Royal
Waterico
West Edmonton !l
Woest Vancouver
Park Royat
Windsor Devonshire Mall
Winnipeg Garden City
Winnipeg Kidenan
Winnipeg Polo Park
Winnipeg Portage Place
Winnipeg St Vita

us

Beston

Manhasset

New York Fifth Avenue
New York Harem
Adanta Lenox Square
Chio Southpark
Solomon Pond

Waterstone's
Aberdeen Langstane
Aberdeen Union Street
Aberystwyth
Artrir%‘hz-;‘lnrfﬂy‘l
Amsterdam

Aylesbury

Basingstoke

Bath

Bath University
Bedford

Beffast Fountain Street
Belfast Roval Avenuie
Birkenhead
Birmingham High Street

Birmingham New Street
Birmingham University
Blackpoo!

Bluewater Thames
Bluewater Wiest

Belon

Bournemouth Arcade
Bournemouth University
Bradford University
Bradford Weol Exchange
Brighton Clock Tower
Bristol Colege Green
Bristol Cribbs Causeway
Bristol Galeries

Bristol University
Bromley

Brunel University
Brussels

Bury

Cambridge Sidney Street

Camden

Canterbmg

Cardiff St David's

Cardiff The Hayes

Chelmsford

Cheltenham

Chester Eastgate

Chichester

Chiswick

City University

Clare Market University

Colchester Culver Square

Calchester High Street

Cork

Caork University

Covent Garden
Garrick Street

Coventry

Coventy Academic

Cranflield University

Crawley

Croydon

Derby

Derby University

Dorkln%

Dubiin Dawson Street
Dubiin Hodges Figgis
Dubiin Jenas Street
Dundee

Durham

Durham University
Ealng Broadway
Earls Court

East Anglia University
Eastbourne
Edinburgh East End
Edinburgh George Street
Edinburgh West End
Egham University
Epsom

Essex University
Exeter High Street
Exeter Roman Gate
Finchley

Folkestone
Gateshead

Glasgow Sauchichal
Glasgow Argyie Street
Glasgow Braechead
Goldsmith College
Gower Street
Guildford High Street
Guidford North Street
Guitchal Uriversity
Hampstead

Hanley

Harreds

Harregate

Hatfield

Hereford

Hertford Academic
Hertford University
Hatfield

Hudl

Hull University

iford

Imperial College
Inverness

Ipswich

Isingtcn

James Street

Keete University
Kensington

Kettering

Kings Lynn

Kings Road

Kingston Academic
Kingston Bentals

Lancaster
Lancaster University
Leadenhal Market
Leamington Spa
Leeds 35 Albion Street
Leeds 93 Albion Street
Leicester Market Street
Leicester The Shires
Lverpool Central
Ludgate Crcus
Luton University
Macclesfieid
Maigstone Eart Street
Manchester Arport
Manchester Deansgate
Manchester St Ann’s
Margaret Sreet
Merry HE
Middiesbrough
Mitton Keynes
Newbury
Newcastle
Emerson Chambers
Newcastie Grey Street
Northampton
Norwich
Notting Hil Gate
Noturngham
Bridlesmith Gate
Notingham Wheelergate
Nuneaton
Old Brompton Roadi.
wford

Oxford Street
Park Road University
Perth
Peterborough
Bridlge Street
Peterborough
Queensgate
Piccadily Hatchards
Piccadily
Plymouth
Preston
Queen Mary
Reading Broad Street
Reading Oracle
Reading University
Richmang
Salisbury
Scarborough
Sheffield Meadowhat
Sheffield Orchard Square
Shrewsbury
Solhug
Seuthampton Above Bar
Southampton University
Southampton West Quay
Southend
Southport
Stafforashire University
{Stoke)
Stiring Thistle
Stockport Merseyway
Stratford
Sutton
Swansea
Swansea University
Swindaon Brunel Plaza
Swindon Regent Street
Taunton
Teesside University
Tefford
Tharmes Vatey University
Trafalgar Square
Tunbridge Weis
Ulster University
Warington
Watford
Watford Academic
Wimbledon
Winchester Bigh Street
Winchester The Brooks
Wolverhampton
Wolverhampton
Academic
worcester
Wrexham
York 28 Ousegate
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Shareholder information

Financial calendar

Ex-dividend date for final dividend

17 September 2003

Record Date for final dividend

19 September 2003

Annual General Meeting

29 September 2003

Final dividend payable

9 Qctober 2003

Interim Results anncuncement

January 2004

Interim dividend payable

February 2004

Announcement of results for year ending 24 April 2004

June 2004

Crdinary Shages

The total number of Ordinary Shares in issue as at 26 April 2003 was 403,290,659 shares which were held by a total of

971 shareholders.

Share price information

The latest information on the HMV Group pic Ordinary Share price is available on www.hrmvgroup.com

Registrars

All enquiries relating to Ordinary Shares, dividends and changes of address should be addressed to the Company's
registrar, Computershare investor Services plc.

Payment of dividends

Shareholders whose dividends are not currently paid to mandated accounts may wish to consider this method of
payment, which has a number of advantages: dividends are paid direct into the shareholder's nominated account. cleared
funds are provided on the payment date, and the relevant tax voucher is sent to the sharehclder's registered address.

Company information

Registered office
Shelley House
2-4 York Road
Maidenhead
Berkshire SLE 1SR

Registered number
3412280

Corporate website
www.hmvgroup.com

Other websites
www.hmv.co.uk
www.hmv.cojp
www.hmv.com
www.hmv.com.au
www.waterstones.co.uk

Auditors

Ernst & Young LLP
Becket House

1 Lambeth Palace Road
l.ondon SE1 7EU

Financiat adviscors
UBS

2 Finsbury Avenue
Londeon EC2M 2PG

Citigroup

Citigroup Centre
33 Canada Square
Canary Wharf
London El4 5LF

Principal bankers

The Royal Bank of Scotland
135 Bishopsgate

London EC2M 3UR

Dresdner Kleinwort

Lawyers

Mayer, Brown, Rowe & Maw
1 Pilgrim Street

London EC4V 6RW

Wasserstein Eg%qlsvtigrshare Investor
Riverbank House ServicF:)es e

2 Swan Lane PO Rox 8p2

London EC4R 3UX The Paviions

Bridgwater Road
Bristol BS99 7NH



